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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

OLD DOMINION FREIGHT LINE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Three Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2004 2003
(In thousands, except share and per share data) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Revenue from operations $ 202,129 $ 163,817
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits 115,270 97,127
Purchased transportation 6,959 4,860
Operating supplies and expenses 22,979 17,341
Depreciation and amortization 10,906 9,447
Building and office equipment rents 1,863 1,820
Operating taxes and licenses 7,679 6,531
Insurance and claims 6,850 4,924
Communications and utilities 2,537 2,513
General supplies and expenses 7,114 5,764
Miscellaneous expenses, net 1,071 1,299
Total operating expenses 183,228 151,626
Operating income 18,901 12,191
Other deductions:
Interest expense, net 1,393 1,564
Other expense (income), net 211 (132)
Total other deductions 1,604 1,432
Income before income taxes 17,297 10,759
Provision for income taxes 6,836 4,250
Net income $ 10,461 $ 6,509
Basic and diluted earnings per share: $ 0.43 $ 0.27
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 24,093,607 24,062,702
Diluted 24,112,234 24,091,587

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2004 2003
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
$ 384,898 $ 316,682

223,720 188,984
13,240 9,764
43,814 35,499
21,502 18,132

3,693 3,587
14,979 12,820
12,692 8,931
5,381 4,884
13,506 11,138
2,569 2,086

355,096 295,825

29,802 20,857
2,763 2,997

378 82

3,141 3,079
26,661 17,778
10,488 7,022

$ 16,173 $ 10,756
$ 0.67 $ 0.45
24,091,318 24,049,283
24,111,384 24,081,053



OLD DOMINION FREIGHT LINE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

June 30,
2004 December 31,
(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited) 2003
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,180 $ 1,051
Customer receivables, less allowances of $7,309 and $7,388, respectively 87,941 73,036
Other receivables 1,548 2,542
Tires on equipment 9,566 8,833
Prepaid expenses 9,930 11,369
Deferred income taxes 5,451 4,539
Total current assets 115,616 101,370
Property and equipment:
Revenue equipment 301,972 263,698
Land and structures 191,321 177,597
Other fixed assets 83,134 70,146
Leasehold improvements 1,665 1,584
Total property and equipment 578,092 513,025
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (214,999) (197,257)
Net property and equipment 363,093 315,768
Other assets 17,731 17,421
Total assets $ 496,440 $ 434,559

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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OLD DOMINION FREIGHT LINE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(CONTINUED)

(In thousands, except share data)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Compensation and benefits

Claims and insurance accruals

Other accrued liabilities

Income taxes payable

Current maturities of long-term debt

Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt
Other non-current liabilities
Deferred income taxes

Total long-term liabilities

Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock - $.10 par value, 25,000,000 shares authorized, 24,100,235 shares outstanding at
June 30, 2004 and 24,089,028 shares outstanding at December 31, 2003
Capital in excess of par value
Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity

Commitments and contingencies

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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June 30,

2004 December 31,

(Unaudited) 2003
$ 31,311 $ 12,185
25,601 19,626
20,980 17,742
5,247 4,603
2,730 1,736
22,094 22,440
107,963 78,332
85,216 74,986
19,971 17,437
34,483 31,263
139,670 123,686
247,633 202,018
2,410 2,409
72,261 72,169
174,136 157,963
248,807 232,541
$496,440 $ 434,559




OLD DOMINION FREIGHT LINE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock

Capital in

excess of Retained
(In thousands) Shares Amount par value earnings Total
Balance as of December 31, 2002 23,967 2,397 70,803 130,363 203,563
Net income — — — 27,600 27,600
Exercise of common stock options 122 12 954 — 966
Tax benefit from exercise of common stock options — — 412 — 412
Balance as of December 31, 2003 24,089 2,409 72,169 157,963 232,541
Exercise of common stock options (Unaudited) 11 1 92 — 93
Net income (Unaudited) — — — 16,173 16,173
Balance as of June 30, 2004 (Unaudited) 24,100 $2,410  $72,261 $174,136  $248,807

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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OLD DOMINION FREIGHT LINE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Gain on sale of property and equipment
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Customer and other receivables, net
Tires on equipment
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Compensation, benefits and other accrued liabilities
Claims and insurance accruals
Deferred income tax
Income taxes payable
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Principal payments under long-term debt agreements

Net proceeds from revolving line of credit
Proceeds from the conversion of stock options

Net cash provided by financing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Six Months Ended June 30,

2004 2003
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
$ 16,173 $ 10,756
21,502 18,132
(290) (192)
(13,911) (3,912)
(733) (717)
1,128 4,941
19,126 (974)
6,619 5,005
5,170 1,562
2,308 —
994 —
602 458
58,688 35,059
(69,569) (63,423)
1,033 2,103
(68,536) (61,320)
815 2,650
(14,431) (9,155)
23,500 13,618
93 838
9,977 7,951
129 (18,310)
1,051 19,259
$ 1,180 $ 949



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated interim financial statements reflect, in the opinion of management, all adjustments
(consisting of normal recurring items) necessary for a fair presentation, in all material respects, of the financial position and results of
operations for the periods presented. The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions. Such estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The results of operations for the interim
periods are not necessarily indicative of the results for the entire year.

There have been no significant changes in the accounting policies of Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc. or significant changes in our
commitments and contingencies as previously described in the 2003 Annual Report to Shareholders and related annual report to the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-K.

Common Stock Split

On April 22, 2004, Old Dominion announced a three-for-two stock split in the form of a 50% stock dividend for shareholders of
record at the close of business on May 6, 2004. The distribution of those shares was effective May 20, 2004, and all references in this
report to shares outstanding, weighted average shares outstanding and earnings per share have been restated retroactively for this stock
split.

Revolving Credit Agreement

We entered into an unsecured revolving credit agreement dated June 30, 2003 with lenders consisting of Wachovia Bank, N.A.; Bank
of America, N.A.; and Branch Banking and Trust Company, with Wachovia as agent for the lenders. This three-year facility, as amended,
consists of $80,000,000 in line of credit commitments from the lenders, all of which are available for revolving loans. In addition, of that
$80,000,000 line of credit, $40,000,000 may be used for letters of credit and $10,000,000 may be used for borrowings under Wachovia’s
sweep program. The sweep program is a daily cash management tool that automatically initiates borrowings to cover overnight cash
requirements up to an aggregate of $10,000,000 or initiates overnight investments for excess cash balances. Revolving loans under the
facility bear interest at either: (a) an applicable margin plus the higher of Wachovia’s prime rate or one-half of one percentage point over
the federal funds rate (the “Adjusted Base Rate”); or (b) LIBOR plus an applicable margin (the “Adjusted LIBOR Rate”). The applicable
margin varies depending upon our ratio of adjusted debt to capital. In the case of the Adjusted Base Rate, the applicable margin ranges
from 0% to .25%. In the case of the Adjusted LIBOR Rate, the applicable margin ranges from .75% to 1.25%. The applicable margin under
this agreement for the second quarter of 2004 for the Adjusted Base Rate and the Adjusted LIBOR Rate was 0% and 1.0%, respectively.
Revolving loans under the sweep program bear interest at the aggregate rate applicable under the sweep program plus the Adjusted LIBOR
Rate.

Quarterly fees ranging from .20% to .30% are charged on the aggregate unused portion of the facility determined by our ratio of
adjusted debt to capital. The applicable rate for the second quarter of 2004 was .25%. Quarterly fees are charged on the aggregate undrawn
portion of outstanding letters of credit at a rate ranging from .75% to 1.25%, which was 1.0% for the second quarter of 2004 as determined
by our ratio of adjusted debt to capital. In addition, a quarterly facing fee at an annual rate of .125% was charged on the aggregate undrawn
portion of outstanding letters of credit.

The June 2003 credit facility contains customary covenants, including financial covenants that require us to observe a maximum ratio
of adjusted debt to capital, to maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and to maintain a minimum consolidated tangible net worth.
Our wholly owned subsidiary guaranteed payment of all of our obligations under the facility. Future wholly owned subsidiaries would be
required to guarantee payment of all of our obligations under the facility. At June 30, 2004, there was $37,500,000 outstanding on the line
of credit facility and there was $31,047,000 outstanding on the standby letter of credit facility.
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Stock Based Compensation

Stock based compensation expense for our employee stock option plan is recognized under the provisions of Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB 257), and related interpretations. Consistent with APB 25, the
exercise price of our employee stock options equals the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant; therefore, no
compensation expense is recognized. Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share required by SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, is not significant.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2003, the FASB issued SFAS Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46”), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an
Interpretation of ARB No. 51, which addresses consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities (“VIEs”) either: (1) that do
not have sufficient equity investment at risk to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support, or
(2) in which the equity investors lack an essential characteristic of a controlling financial interest. In December 2003, the FASB issued
modifications to FIN 46 (“Revised Interpretations”) resulting in multiple effective dates based on the nature as well as the creation date of
the VIE. VIEs created after January 31, 2003, but prior to January 1, 2004, may be accounted for either based on the original interpretation
or the Revised Interpretations. However, the Revised Interpretations were required to be applied no later than the first quarter 2004. VIEs
created after January 1, 2004 must be accounted for under the Revised Interpretations. Non-Special Purpose Entities created prior to
February 1, 2003, should be accounted for under the Revised Interpretations’ provisions no later than the first quarter of fiscal 2004. We
have adopted FIN 46, which did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Related Party Transactions

Transactions with Old Dominion Truck Leasing, Inc.

Old Dominion Truck Leasing, Inc. (“Leasing”), a North Carolina corporation whose voting stock is owned by the Earl E. Congdon
Intangibles Trust, David S. Congdon, Trustee, the John R. Congdon Revocable Trust and members of Earl E. Congdon’s and John R.
Congdon’s families, is engaged in the business of purchasing and leasing tractors, trailers and other vehicles. John R. Congdon is Chairman
of the Board of Leasing, and Earl E. Congdon is Vice Chairman of the Board of Leasing. Since 1986, we have combined our requirements
with Leasing for the purchase of tractors, trailers, equipment, parts, tires and fuel. We believe that, by combining our requirements, we are
often able to obtain pricing discounts because of the increased level of purchasing. While this is beneficial to us, our management believes
that the termination of this relationship would not have a material adverse impact on our financial results.

We provide vehicle repair, maintenance and other services to Leasing at cost plus a negotiated markup, and we rent vehicle repair
facilities to Leasing at two of our service center locations for fair market value. For these services and use of these facilities, we charged
Leasing $16,000 and $15,000 for the first six months of 2004 and 2003, respectively.

We purchased $185,000 and $133,000 of maintenance and other services from Leasing in the first six months of 2004 and 2003,
respectively. We did not lease any equipment from Leasing in the first six months of 2004 or for the entire year 2003. One trailer was
purchased from Leasing on May 1, 2003 for a purchase price of $8,000.

Transactions with E & J Enterprises

On July 29, 2002, our Board of Directors approved the purchase of 163 trailers for $1,200 each, or a total of $195,600, from E & J
Enterprises, a Virginia general partnership of which Earl E. Congdon, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of our Board of Directors,
and John R. Congdon, Vice Chairman of our Board of Directors, are each 50% owners. These trailers had been leased to us by E & J
Enterprises




since 1988 pursuant to a term lease, which converted to a month-to-month lease in 1999. At year-end 2002, we had completed the purchase
of 50 of these trailers for a purchase price of $60,000. During the first quarter 2003, we continued to lease the remaining 113 trailers on a
month-to-month basis until we completed the purchase of those trailers in March 2003 for a purchase price of $135,600. Also in March
2003, we purchased 10 additional trailers from E & J Enterprises for $5,000 each for a total purchase price of $50,000.

On July 29, 2002, our Board of Directors also approved the leasing from E & J Enterprises of 150 pickup and delivery trailers on a
month-to-month basis for $204 per month for each trailer. On December 1, 2003, we purchased these 150 trailers for an aggregate purchase
price of $907,000. The total amount paid for all trailers under lease was $0 and $204,000 for the first six months of 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

Earnings Per Share

Net income per share of common stock is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during each period after giving
retroactive effect for the three-for-two stock split that was effective on May 20, 2004.

Subsequent Events

On July 26, 2004, we issued and sold in an underwritten public offering, 370,000 shares of common stock in exchange for proceeds of
$10,097,300, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions. In addition to the shares sold by the Company in this public
offering, Earl E. Congdon, our Chairman of the Board of Directors, and John R. Congdon, our Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors,
and members of their respective families, sold an additional 2,070,000 shares of common stock.

On August 4, 2004, the underwriters for this public offering exercised their option to purchase from us an additional 366,000 shares
of common stock to cover over-allotments. In exchange for these shares, we received proceeds of $9,988,140, after deducting all
underwriting discounts and commissions.

Expenses associated with this offering will reduce the aggregate proceeds received by the Company by approximately $250,000.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Overview

We are a leading less-than-truckload multi-regional motor carrier providing timely one to five day service among five regions in the
United States and next-day and second-day service within these regions. Through our four branded product groups, OD-Domestic, OD-
Expedited, OD-Global and OD-Technology, we offer an expanding array of innovative products and services. At June 30, 2004, we
provided full-state coverage to 28 of the 40 states that we serve directly within the Southeast, South Central, Northeast, Midwest and West
regions of the country. Through marketing and carrier relationships, we also provide service to and from the remaining 10 states as well as
international services around the globe.

We combine the rapid transit times of a regional carrier with the geographic coverage of an inter-regional carrier. We believe our
transit times are generally faster than those of our principal national competitors and we are highly competitive with our principal regional
competition. Historically, over 90% of our revenue is derived from transporting LTL shipments.

In analyzing the components of our revenue, we monitor changes and trends in the following key metrics:

*  LTL Revenue Per LTL Hundredweight — This measurement reflects our pricing policies, which are influenced by competitive
market conditions and our growth strategies. Changes in the class, packaging of the freight and length of haul of the shipment can
also affect this average, as light, bulky freight will be priced at higher revenue per hundredweight levels than heavy, dense freight.

o LTL Weight Per LTL Shipment — Fluctuations in weight per shipment can indicate changes in the class, or mix, of freight we
receive from our customers as well as changes in the number of units included in a shipment. Generally, increases in LTL weight
per LTL shipment indicate higher demand for our customers’ products and overall increased economic activity.

*  Average Length of Haul — We consider lengths of haul less than 500 miles to be regional traffic, lengths of haul between 500 miles
and 1,000 miles to be inter-regional traffic and lengths of haul in excess of 1,000 miles to be national traffic. By segmenting our
revenue into lengths of haul, we can determine our market share and the growth potential of our service products in those markets.

e LTL Revenue Per LTL Shipment — This measurement is primarily determined by the three metrics listed above and is used, in
conjunction with the number of LTL shipments we receive, to calculate total LTL revenue.

Our primary revenue focus is to increase shipment and tonnage growth within our existing infrastructure, generally referred to as
increasing density, thereby maximizing asset utilization and labor productivity. We measure density over many different functional areas of
our operations including revenue per service center, linehaul load factor, pickup and delivery (“P&D”) stops per hour, P&D shipments per
hour and platform pounds per hour. We believe density is a key component in our ability to sustain or increase profitable growth.

The majority of direct costs associated with our business are driver and service center wages and benefits, operating supplies and
expenses, and depreciation of our equipment fleet and service center facilities. We gauge our overall success in managing these costs by
monitoring our operating ratio, a measure of profitability calculated by dividing total operating expenses by revenue, which also allows
industry wide comparisons with our competition.

We continually upgrade our technological capabilities to improve our customer service and lower our operating costs. This
technology provides our customers with visibility of their shipments throughout our systems, while providing key metrics from which we
can monitor our processes.
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We believe our non-union workforce gives us a significant advantage over our unionized LTL competition. Advantages of our

workforce include flexible hours and the ability of our employees to perform multiple tasks, which we believe result in greater productivity,
customer service, efficiency and cost savings. We focus on communication and the continued education, development and motivation of

our employees to promote our relationships with our employees.

Market fluctuations in the cost of key components of our cost structure, such as diesel fuel, affect our profitability. Our tariffs and
contracts generally provide for a fuel surcharge as diesel fuel prices increase above stated levels. We are also subject to market changes in

insurance rates, and we continue to evaluate our balance of excess insurance coverage and self-insurance to minimize that cost.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, expenses and other items as a percentage of revenue from operations:

Revenue from operations

Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits
Purchased transportation
Operating supplies and expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Building and office equipment rents
Operating taxes and licenses
Insurance and claims
Communications and utilities
General supplies and expenses
Miscellaneous expenses

Total operating expenses

Operating income

Interest expense, net
Other expense, net

Income before income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net income

Results of Operations

Three Months Ended
June 30,
2004 2003
100.0% 100.0%

57.0 59.3
34 3.0

11.4 10.6
5.4 5.8
0.9 1.1
3.8 4.0
34 3.0
1.3 1.5
35 35
0.5 0.8

90.6 92.6
9.4 7.4
0.7 0.9
0.1 D
8.6 6.6
34 2.6
5.2% 4.0%

Six Months Ended

2004 2003
100.0% 100.0%
58.1 59.7
34 31
114 11.2
5.6 5.7
1.0 1.1
3.9 4.0
33 2.8
1.4 1.6
3.5 3.5
0.7 0.7
92.3 93.4
7.7 6.6
0.7 1.0
0.1 —
6.9 5.6
2.7 2.2
4.2% 3.4%

For the second quarter and the first six months of 2004, we continued to produce double-digit growth in revenue, profitability and
earnings per share. Second quarter revenue grew 23.4% to $202,129,000 from $163,817,000 for the prior-year comparable quarter. When
combined with the 19.6% increase in revenue we recorded in the first quarter, our revenue grew to $384,898,000 for the first six months of

2004, an increase of 21.5% over the same period in 2003.



The additional revenue we produced in 2004 reflects an increase in our operational density and resulted in certain operating
efficiencies that decreased our operating ratio. For the second quarter 2004 our operating ratio was 90.6% compared to 92.6% for the prior-
year period. For the first six months of 2004 our operating ratio was 92.3% compared to 93.4% for the first six months of 2003. As a result,
net income for the second quarter increased 60.7% to $10,461,000 and net income for the first six months of 2004 increased 50.4% to
$16,173,000.

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the second quarter increased 59.3% to $.43, compared to $.27 for the second quarter of 2003.
For the first six months of 2004, diluted earnings per share increased 48.9% to $.67 from $.45 for the same period in 2003.

Revenue

Revenue increases in the second quarter and the first half of 2004 were primarily a result of volume increases in LTL tonnage and
LTL shipments. LTL tonnage grew 18.0% in the second quarter and 17.9% for the first half of the year compared to the same periods in
2003. LTL shipments grew 12.9% for the current quarter and 14.3% for the first six months of the year. Because LTL tonnage grew at a
faster rate than LTL shipments, our weight per LTL shipment increased 4.4% to 1,062 pounds for the quarter and increased 3.1% to 1,052
for the first half of 2004.

We attribute the increase in LTL weight per LTL shipment to an improving economic environment and to a slight shift in our
customer base. Since February 2004, we have experienced a trend of monthly increases in LTL weight per LTL shipment, which we
believe indicates greater demand for our customers’ products and a resulting increase in shipment size and weight. In addition, we have
seen higher year-over-year growth rates in our customer base that is priced through individual contracts. Our contract business increased
approximately 33% over the second quarter 2003 and approximately 34% over the first six months of 2003. We believe the expansion of
our service center network and full-state coverage in 28 of those states has positioned us to be attractive to larger customers that ship to and
from many regions in the country and seek to reduce their number of core carriers. Our contract customers generally offer larger shipments,
which increases our average LTL weight per LTL shipment.

Typically, our revenue per hundredweight on contract business is priced lower than non-contract business, due to allowances for
operating efficiencies gained from the increased number, size and consistency of the shipments, as well as the long-term potential benefit of
these contractual relationships. Despite this impact, our LTL revenue per LTL hundredweight increased 2.4% for the comparative quarters
and 1.3% for the comparative six-month periods. This increase was partially due to increases in our average length of haul to 937 miles for
the second quarter, an increase of .8% over the comparable quarter in 2003, and to 945 miles for the first half of 2004, an increase of 2.2%
over the same period in 2003. In addition, we implemented a general price increase on our public tariff base rates on June 1, 2004, which
impacted approximately 40% of our revenue base.

The combination of increases in LTL weight per LTL shipment and LTL revenue per LTL hundredweight produced improvements in
LTL revenue per LTL shipment. LTL revenue per LTL shipment was $155.68 for the second quarter of 2004 and $153.07 for the first half
of the year, an improvement over the prior-year period of 7.0% and 4.5%, respectively.

During the first half of 2004, we opened service centers in Bakersfield, California; Sarasota, Florida; Dayton and Youngstown, Ohio;
Portland, Oregon; Seattle, Washington; and La Crosse and Wausau, Wisconsin. In addition to these openings, we improved our direct
service capabilities in Canada and initiated sales operations in Toronto and Montreal. In the second quarter of 2004, we began providing
full-state coverage in Wisconsin and on August 2, 2004, we also began to provide full-state coverage in Michigan, increasing our full-state
coverage to 29 states. While the expansion of our service center network and improvement in our service capabilities should provide a
platform for future growth, these events did not have a significant impact on our second quarter and six-month results.

Our tariffs and contracts generally provide for a fuel surcharge as diesel fuel prices increase above stated levels. This surcharge is
recorded as additional revenue and is intended to offset significant fluctuations in the price of diesel fuel, which is one of the larger
components of our operating expenses.
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Due to increases in diesel fuel prices in 2004, our fuel surcharge per gallon of fuel consumed increased 39.6% over the second quarter of
2003 and 13.7% over the comparable six-month periods.

In the first six months of 2004, we exceeded our targeted revenue growth projections of between 10% and 15% that was established
as our goal for 2004. Based upon these results and our current projections, we are confident of achieving this goal for the entire year of
2004.

Operating Costs and Other Expenses

During the second quarter and first half of 2004, increases in tonnage and concentrations of shipments moving through our route
structure and service center network generated operating efficiencies that resulted in increased profitability. The benefits of this improved
density, measured over many functions of our operations, were instrumental in the reduction of our operating ratio to 90.6% for the second
quarter and 92.3% for the first half of the year compared to prior-year periods of 92.6% and 93.4%, respectively. Much of that
improvement was achieved through reductions as a percentage of revenue in salaries, wages and benefits, the largest component of our cost
structure, which decreased to 57.0% of revenue for the second quarter from 59.3% for the second quarter of 2003, and decreased to 58.1%
of revenue for the first half of 2004 from 59.7% for the first half of 2003.

The additional freight volumes enabled us to leverage the costs of our salaried and clerical workforce. In the comparative second
quarters, salary and clerical wages decreased to 12.9% of revenue from 13.3% and decreased to 12.8% of revenue from 13.6% for the
comparable six-month periods.

We continued to reduce our P&D driver labor as a percent of revenue, which decreased to 11.1% for the second quarter from 11.9%
for the same quarter of 2003. For the first six months of 2004, P&D driver labor decreased to 11.4% of revenue from 11.9% for the
comparable period in 2003. A portion of these savings resulted from the rollout of our driver hand-held computers, which was completed
by year-end 2003. These handheld computers provide direct communication between our drivers, service center personnel and other Old
Dominion systems, which results in more efficient routing of our P&D fleet and increased productivity. In addition, these devices allow our
drivers to capture real-time information during pickups and deliveries, including the number and weight of shipments as well as other vital
shipping information that allows for increased efficiency in our dock and linehaul operations. For the six-month comparable periods, we
achieved a 2.3% increase in P&D shipments per hour and a .6% improvement in P&D stops per hour.

Linehaul driver wages decreased to 11.8% from 12.1% for the comparative second quarters and decreased to 11.9% from 12.1% for
the comparative six-month periods. Our linehaul laden load average, a measurement of linehaul trailer utilization, increased 4.2% for the
second quarter of 2004 and 3.9% for the first half of 2004 over the comparable year periods. In addition, revenue per linehaul mile
increased to $3.74 for the second quarter and to $3.70 for the first half of 2004, reflecting increases over the prior-year periods of 7.5% and
5.7%, respectively.

We purchase transportation services for our linehaul and local pickup and delivery operations from other motor carriers and rail
providers when there are capacity restraints or imbalances of freight flow within our service center network or when it is economically
beneficial. Purchased transportation increased to 3.4% of revenue from 3.0% for the comparative quarters and increased to 3.4% of revenue
from 3.1% for the six-month periods, primarily due to increases in purchased motor and rail linehaul services. During the first half of 2004,
these services were utilized to offset freight imbalances so that we could more efficiently utilize our drivers and equipment fleet.

Operating supplies and expenses increased to 11.4% of revenue for the second quarter of 2004 from 10.6% and increased to 11.4% of
revenue for the first six months of 2004 from 11.2%, primarily due to diesel fuel price fluctuations. Diesel fuel costs, excluding fuel taxes,
increased to 6.2% of revenue for the second quarter compared to 5.2% for the same period in 2003. For the comparable six-month periods,
diesel fuel increased to 6.2% of revenue from 5.7%. We currently do not use diesel fuel hedging instruments; therefore, we are subject to
price fluctuations and our ability to apply fuel surcharges. We believe that our fuel surcharges, which decrease or are eliminated as fuel
prices approach base levels, have effectively offset price fluctuations in diesel fuel in 2004.
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The 23.4% revenue growth in the second quarter 2004 enabled us to leverage our investments in property and equipment, thereby
reducing our depreciation expense to 5.4% compared to 5.8% in the second quarter of 2003. For the comparable six months, depreciation
expense decreased slightly to 5.6% from 5.7%. Approximately 81% of our 2004 planned net capital expenditures, or $68,536,000, was
completed in the first half of the year for planned asset replacements and in order to increase our fleet and service center capacity to
accommodate our growth. In addition, the investments in service centers coupled with a 9.4% increase in revenue per service center for the
first half of 2004 resulted in a decrease in net service center lease costs of .1% of revenue for both the second quarter and first six months of
2004 versus the respective prior-year periods.

Insurance expenses, primarily for bodily injury, property damage and cargo claims, increased to 3.4% of revenue for the second
quarter and 3.3% for the first half of 2004 compared to 3.0% and 2.8% for the respective periods in 2003. We choose to self-insure a
portion of our bodily injury, property damage and cargo claims liabilities and obtain excess insurance coverage for claims above our
retention levels. In the second quarter of 2004, self-insured bodily injury and property damage expenses, resulting from claims under
insured retention levels, increased to 1.5% of revenue from 1.0% and increased to 1.3% for the first six months of 2004 from .8% for the
same period in 2003.

During the second quarter and the first half of 2004, we successfully leveraged other costs, including operating taxes and licenses,
communications and utilities, and miscellaneous expenses, which as a group decreased to 5.6% of revenue for the second quarter and 6.0%
for the first half of 2004 compared to 6.3% of revenue for both comparable periods in 2003.

Long-term debt including current maturities was $107,310,000 at June 30, 2004 compared to $100,336,000 at June 30, 2003, an
increase of 7.0%. Because our credit facility carries a lower interest rate than our senior notes, and due to a shift of average outstanding debt
from senior notes to the credit facility, our interest expense for the second quarter and first half of 2004 decreased from the previous year
comparable periods. Interest expense, net of interest income, decreased $171,000 for the comparative second quarters and $234,000 for the
comparative six-month periods. We also capitalized $66,000 more interest in the second quarter and first six months of 2004 than the
previous year periods, which also contributed to the decrease in net interest expense.

The effective tax rates for the second quarter and first half of 2004 were 39.5% and 39.3%, respectively, compared to 39.5% for the
same periods in 2003.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Expansion in both the size and number of service center facilities, our planned tractor and trailer replacement cycle and revenue
growth have required continued investment in real estate and equipment. In order to support these requirements, we incurred net capital
expenditures of $68,536,000 in the first six months of 2004. Cash and cash flows generated internally during the first six months of 2004
funded approximately 86% of these expenditures, the remainder of which were funded through additional borrowings. At June 30, 2004,
long-term debt including current maturities increased to $107,310,000 from $97,426,000 at December 31, 2003.

We estimate net capital expenditures to be approximately $80,000,000 to $85,000,000 for the year ending December 31, 2004. Of
that, approximately $55,000,000 is allocated for the purchase of tractors and trailers; $17,000,000 is allocated for the purchase of service
center facilities, construction of new service center facilities or expansion of existing service center facilities; $8,000,000 is allocated for
investments in technology; and the balance is allocated for other assets. We plan to fund these capital expenditures primarily through cash
flows from operations supplemented by additional borrowings.
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The table below sets forth our capital expenditures for the first six months of 2004 and the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001, excluding assets acquired as part of business acquisitions:

YTD Year Ended December 31,

June
(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002 2001
Land and structures $13,441 $36,111 $21,637 $30,245
Tractors 29,575 32,710 22,900 4,151
Trailers 12,687 12,746 8,800 1,284
Technology 4,870 14917 7,840 4,806
Other 8,996 5,419 8,815 3,128
Acquisition of business assets, net — — — 10,055
Proceeds from sale (1,033) (3,462) (887) (6,706)

Total $68,536 $98,441 $69,105 $46,963

We entered into an unsecured revolving credit agreement dated June 30, 2003 with lenders consisting of Wachovia Bank, N.A.; Bank
of America, N.A.; and Branch Banking and Trust Company, with Wachovia as agent for the lenders. This three-year facility, as amended
effective April 14, 2004, consists of $80,000,000 in line of credit commitments from the lenders, all of which are available for revolving
loans. In addition, of that $80,000,000 line of credit, $40,000,000 may be used for letters of credit and $10,000,000 may be used for
borrowings under Wachovia’s sweep program. The sweep program is a daily cash management tool that automatically initiates borrowings
to cover overnight cash requirements up to an aggregate of $10,000,000 or initiates overnight investments for excess cash balances.
Revolving loans under the facility bear interest at either: (a) an applicable margin plus the higher of Wachovia’s prime rate or one-half of
one percentage point over the federal funds rate (the “Adjusted Base Rate”); or (b) LIBOR plus an applicable margin (the “Adjusted
LIBOR Rate”). The applicable margin varies depending upon our ratio of adjusted debt to capital. In the case of the Adjusted Base Rate,
the applicable margin ranges from 0% to .25%. In the case of the Adjusted LIBOR Rate, the applicable margin ranges from .75% to 1.25%.
The applicable margin under this agreement for the second quarter of 2004 for the Adjusted Base Rate and the Adjusted LIBOR Rate was
0% and 1.0%, respectively. Revolving loans under the sweep program bear interest at the aggregate rate applicable under the sweep
program plus the Adjusted LIBOR Rate.

Quarterly fees ranging from .20% to .30% are charged on the aggregate unused portion of the facility determined by our ratio of
adjusted debt to capital. The applicable rate for the second quarter of 2004 was .25%. Quarterly fees are charged on the aggregate undrawn
portion of outstanding letters of credit at a rate ranging from .75% to 1.25%, which was 1.0% for the second quarter of 2004 as determined
by our ratio of adjusted debt to capital. In addition, a quarterly facing fee at an annual rate of .125% was charged on the aggregate undrawn
portion of outstanding letters of credit.

The June 2003 credit facility contains customary covenants, including financial covenants that require us to observe a maximum ratio
of adjusted debt to capital, to maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and to maintain a minimum consolidated tangible net worth.
Our wholly owned subsidiary guaranteed payment of all of our obligations under the facility. Future wholly owned subsidiaries would be
required to guarantee payment of all of our obligations under the facility. At June 30, 2004, there was $37,500,000 outstanding on the line
of credit facility and there was $31,047,000 outstanding on the standby letter of credit facility.

We have three senior note agreements outstanding totaling $58,714,000 at June 30, 2004. These notes call for periodic principal
payments with maturities ranging from 2005 to 2008, of which $16,607,000 is due in the next twelve months. Interest rates on these notes
are fixed and range from 6.35% to 7.59%. Under the provisions of one of these notes, we may issue up to $15,000,000 of additional senior
notes. The applicable interest rate and payment schedules for any new notes will be determined and mutually agreed upon at the time of
issuance.

We have a term loan with principal outstanding of $8,640,000 as of June 30, 2004, which was used to purchase 300 tractors. The
borrowing under the term loan is evidenced by 48-month term notes secured
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by the purchased equipment pursuant to a security agreement with the lender. The notes call for equal monthly payments of principal and
interest and mature in 2006, of which $4,052,000 in principal is due within the next 12 months. The interest rates on the notes are fixed and
range from 4.21% to 4.39%. The term loan agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants. The term notes originally
incorporated by reference the financial covenants from our May 2000 credit facility and were amended to incorporate by reference our
financial covenants under our June 2003 facility.

With the exception of the line of credit, interest rates are fixed on all of our debt instruments. Therefore, short-term exposure to
fluctuations in interest rates is limited to our credit facility, which had an outstanding balance of $37,500,000 at June 30, 2004. We do not
currently use interest rate derivative instruments to manage exposure to interest rate changes. Also, we do not use fuel hedging instruments,
as our tariff provisions and contracts generally allow for fuel surcharges to be implemented in the event that fuel prices exceed stipulated
levels.

A significant decrease in demand for our services could limit our ability to generate cash flow and affect profitability. Most of our
debt agreements have covenants that require stated levels of financial performance, which if not achieved could cause acceleration of the
payment schedules. We do not anticipate a significant decline in business levels or financial performance, and we believe the combination
of our existing credit facilities along with our additional borrowing capacity will be sufficient to meet seasonal and long-term capital needs.

The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of June 30, 2004:

Payments Due by Period (In Thousands)

Less than 12 13-36 37-60 Over 60
Contractual Obligations (1) Total months months months months
Long-Term Debt $105,092 $ 20,897 $67,695 $16,500 —
Capital Lease Obligations 2,218 1,197 1,021 — —
Operating Leases 21,959 9,980 9,934 2,015 30
Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period
(In Thousands)
Total
Amounts Less than 12 13-36 37-60 Over 60
Other C cial C itments (2) Committed months months months months
Standby Letters of Credit $ 31,047 $ 31,047 — — —

(1) Contractual obligations include long-term debt consisting primarily of senior notes totaling $58,714,000; capital lease obligations for
trailers and computer equipment; and off-balance sheet operating leases primarily consisting of real estate leases.

(2) Other commercial commitments consist of standby letters of credit used as collateral for self-insured retention of insurance claims.

Critical Accounting Policies

In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we apply the following critical accounting policies that affect judgments and
estimates of amounts recorded in certain assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses:
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Revenue and Expense Recognition - Operating revenue is recognized on a percentage of completion method based on average transit time.
Expenses associated with operating revenue are recognized when incurred.

Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts - We maintain an allowance for uncollectible accounts for estimated losses resulting from the
inability of our customers to make required payments. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.

Claims and Insurance Accruals - Claims and insurance accruals reflect the estimated ultimate total cost of claims, including amounts for
claims incurred but not reported, for cargo loss and damage, bodily injury and property damage, workers’ compensation, long-term
disability and group health not covered by insurance. These costs are charged to insurance and claims expense except for workers’
compensation, long-term disability and group health, which are charged to employee benefits expense.

We are currently self-insured for bodily injury and property damage claims up to $2,000,000 per occurrence. Cargo loss and damage
claims are self-insured up to $100,000. We are self-insured for workers’ compensation in certain states and have first dollar or high
deductible plans in the remaining states with self-insured retention levels ranging from $250,000 to $1,000,000. Group health claims are
self-insured up to $300,000 per occurrence and long-term disability claims are self-insured to a maximum per individual of $3,000 per
month.

Insurers providing excess coverage above retention levels adjust their premiums to cover insured losses and for other market factors.
As a result, we periodically evaluate our self-insured retention levels to determine the most cost efficient balance of self-insurance and
excess coverage.

In establishing accruals for claims and insurance expenses, we evaluate and monitor each claim individually, and we use factors such
as historical experience, known trends and third-party estimates to determine the appropriate reserves for potential liability. We believe the
assumptions and methods used to estimate these liabilities are reasonable; however, changes in the severity of previously reported claims,
significant changes in the medical costs and legislative changes affecting the administration of our plans could significantly impact the
determination of appropriate reserves in future periods.

Goodwill - The excess cost over net assets acquired in connection with acquisitions, or goodwill, is recorded in “Other Assets”. We adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”) on January 1, 2002 and
completed the required analyses of the fair value of our single reporting unit compared to the carrying value as of January 1, 2002, October
1, 2002 and October 1, 2003. Based on those analyses, we concluded that there was no impairment of goodwill on those measurement
dates. At June 30, 2004, goodwill totaled $10,648,000. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 142, these intangible assets were amortized using a
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 25 years.

Property and Equipment - Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated
economic lives. Management uses historical experience, certain assumptions and estimates in determining the economic life of each asset.
Periodically, we review property and equipment for impairment to include changes in operational and market conditions, and we adjust the
carrying value and economic life of any impaired asset as appropriate. Currently, estimated economic lives for structures are 5 to 30 years;
revenue equipment is 2 to 12 years; other equipment is 2 to 10 years; and leasehold improvements are the lesser of 10 years or the life of
the lease. The use of different assumptions, estimates or significant changes in the resale market for our equipment could result in material
changes in the carrying value of our assets.

Inflation

Most of our expenses are affected by inflation, which generally results in increased operating costs. In response to fluctuations in the
cost of petroleum products, particularly diesel fuel, we have implemented a fuel surcharge in our tariffs and contractual agreements. The
fuel surcharge is designed to offset the cost of fuel above a base price and increases as fuel prices escalate over the base. For the first six
months of 2004 and the entire year 2003, the net effect of inflation on our results of operations was minimal.

17



Seasonality

Our tonnage levels and revenue mix are subject to seasonal trends common in the motor carrier industry. Financial results in the first
quarter are normally lower due to reduced shipments during the winter months. Harsh winter weather can also adversely impact our
performance by reducing demand and increasing operating expenses. The remaining periods reflect increased demand for our services and
generally result in improved operating margins.

Environmental Regulation

We are subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations that focus on, among other things, the emission
and discharge of hazardous materials into the environment from our properties and vehicles, fuel storage tanks and the discharge or
retention of storm water. Under specific environmental laws, we could also be held responsible for any costs relating to contamination at
our past or present facilities and at third-party waste disposal sites. We do not believe that the cost of future compliance with environmental
laws or regulations will have a material adverse effect on our operations or financial condition.

Related Party Transactions

Transactions with Old Dominion Truck Leasing, Inc.

Old Dominion Truck Leasing, Inc. (“Leasing”), a North Carolina corporation whose voting stock is owned by the Earl E. Congdon
Intangibles Trust, David S. Congdon, Trustee, the John R. Congdon Revocable Trust and members of Earl E. Congdon’s and John R.
Congdon’s families, is engaged in the business of purchasing and leasing tractors, trailers and other vehicles. John R. Congdon is Chairman
of the Board of Leasing, and Earl E. Congdon is Vice Chairman of the Board of Leasing. Since 1986, we have combined our requirements
with Leasing for the purchase of tractors, trailers, equipment, parts, tires and fuel. We believe that, by combining our requirements, we are
often able to obtain pricing discounts because of the increased level of purchasing. While this is beneficial to us, our management believes
that the termination of this relationship would not have a material adverse impact on our financial results.

We provide vehicle repair, maintenance and other services to Leasing at cost plus a negotiated markup, and we rent vehicle repair
facilities to Leasing at two of our service center locations for fair market value. For these services and use of these facilities, we charged
Leasing $16,000 and $15,000 for the first six months of 2004 and 2003, respectively.

We purchased $185,000 and $133,000 of maintenance and other services from Leasing in the first six months of 2004 and 2003,
respectively. We believe that the prices we pay for such services are lower than would be charged by unaffiliated third parties for the same
quality of work, and we intend to continue to purchase maintenance and other services from Leasing, provided that Leasing’s prices
continue to be favorable to us. We did not lease any equipment from Leasing in the first six months of 2004 or for the entire year 2003.

We also purchased one trailer from Leasing on May 1, 2003 for a purchase price of $8,000.

Transactions with E & J Enterprises

On July 29, 2002, our Board of Directors approved the purchase of 163 trailers for $1,200 each, or a total of $195,600, from E & J
Enterprises, a Virginia general partnership of which Earl E. Congdon, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of our Board of Directors,
and John R. Congdon, Vice Chairman of our Board of Directors, are each 50% owners. These trailers had been leased to us by E & J
Enterprises since 1988 pursuant to a term lease, which converted to a month-to-month lease in 1999. At year-end 2002, we had completed
the purchase of 50 of these trailers for a purchase price of $60,000. During the first quarter 2003, we continued to lease the remaining 113
trailers on a month-to-month basis until we

18



completed the purchase of those trailers in March 2003 for a purchase price of $135,600. Also in March 2003, we purchased 10 additional
trailers from E & J Enterprises for $5,000 each for a total purchase price of $50,000.

On July 29, 2002, our Board of Directors also approved the leasing from E & J Enterprises of 150 pickup and delivery trailers on a
month-to-month basis for $204 per month for each trailer. On December 1, 2003, we purchased these 150 trailers for an aggregate purchase
price of $907,000. The total amount paid for all trailers under lease was $0 and $204,000 for the first six months of 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

Audit Committee Approval

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors reviewed and approved all related party transactions.

Forward-Looking Information

Forward-looking statements in this report, including, without limitation, statements relating to future events or our future financial
performance, appear in the preceding Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and in
other written and oral statements made by or on behalf of us, including, without limitation, statements relating to our goals, strategies,
expectations, competitive environment, regulation and availability of resources. Such forward-looking statements are made pursuant to the
safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Investors are cautioned that such forward-looking
statements involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual events and results to be materially different from those expressed or
implied herein, including, but not limited to, the following: (1) the competitive environment with respect to industry capacity and pricing;
(2) the negative impact of any unionization of the Company’s employees; (3) the challenges associated with executing the Company’s
growth strategy; (4) the Company’s compliance with recent legislation requiring companies to evaluate their internal control over financial
reporting; (5) various economic factors such as economic recessions and downturns in customers’ business cycles and shipping
requirements; (6) the availability and cost of fuel; (7) difficulty in attracting or retaining qualified drivers; (8) the Company’s exposure to
claims related to cargo loss and damage, property damage, personal injury and workers’ compensation and the costs of insurance; (9) the
Company’s significant ongoing cash requirements; (10) the availability and cost of new equipment; (11) the costs of compliance with, or
liability for violation of, existing or future governmental regulation; (12) seasonal trends in the industry, including the possibility of harsh
weather conditions; (13) the Company’s dependence on key employees; (14) changes in the Company’s goals and strategies, which are
subject to change at any time at the discretion of the Company; and (15) other risks and uncertainties indicated from time to time in the
Company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure of Market Risk

The information called for by this item is provided under the caption “Liquidity and Capital Resources” under Item 2 - Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.

As of the end of the period covered by this report, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures in accordance with Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act. Based on their evaluation,
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures enable us to record, process,
summarize and report in a timely manner the information that we are required to disclose in our Exchange Act reports.
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b) Changes in internal control over financial reporting.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this report that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
The following matters were voted upon at the 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on May 17, 2004:

1. All of the following individuals nominated were elected to serve as directors and received the number of votes set opposite their
respective names:

Nominee For Withheld

J. Paul Breitbach 13,817,428 412,722
Earl E. Congdon 11,086,296 3,143,854
John R. Congdon 11,089,138 3,141,012
David S. Congdon 11,089,669 3,140,481
John R. Congdon, Jr. 11,089,143 3,141,007
Robert G. Culp, IIT 13,834,028 396,122
John A. Ebeling 10,817,351 3,412,799
Harold G. Hoak 13,817,253 412,897
Franz F. Holscher 13,817,253 412,897

2. A proposal to amend the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to limit director and officer liability under certain circumstances was
approved by the following shareholder vote:

For Withheld Abstain

13,690,261 497,944 41,944

3. A proposal to amend the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock from
25,000,000 to 100,000,000 did not obtain the required shareholder vote:

For Withheld Abstain

8,653,840 5,559,625 16,684

The following matter was voted upon at a Special Meeting of Shareholders held on July 30, 2004:

1. A proposal to amend the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock from
25,000,000 to 70,000,000 shares was approved by the following shareholder vote:

For Withheld Abstain

19,274,080 3,720,211 20,162
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Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K
a)  Exhibits:

Exhibit No. Description
3.1.1 Articles of Incorporation, as amended.
10.17.1 Employment Agreement by and between Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc. and Earl E. Congdon,

effective June 10, 2004. Incorporated by reference to the exhibit of the same number contained in
the Company’s current report on Form 8-K dated June 10, 2004.

10.17.2 Employment Agreement by and between Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc. and John R. Congdon,
effective June 10, 2004. Incorporated by reference to the exhibit of the same number contained in
the Company’s current report on Form 8-K dated June 10, 2004.

10.17.3 Employment Agreement by and between Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc. and David S. Congdon,
effective June 10, 2004. Incorporated by reference to the exhibit of the same number contained in
the Company’s current report on Form 8-K dated June 10, 2004.

10.17.4 Employment Agreement by and between Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc. and John B. Yowell,
effective June 10, 2004. Incorporated by reference to the exhibit of the same number contained in
the Company’s current report on Form 8-K dated June 10, 2004.

10.17.5 Underwriting Agreement among Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc. and Legg Mason Wood Walker,
Incoporated, BB&T Capital Markets, a division of Scott & Stringfellow, Inc., and Stephens, Inc., as
representatives of the several underwriters, dated July 20, 2004.

31.1 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

322 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

b) Reports on Form 8-K:

On April 22, 2004, we furnished a Current Report on Form 8-K under Item 12 to report our earnings for the first quarter March 31,
2004 and to announce a three-for-two stock split for shareholders of record on May 6, 2004.

On June 10, 2004, we furnished a Current Report on Form 8-K under Item 5 to report new employment agreements with four senior
management employees.

22



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

OLD DOMINION FREIGHT LINE, INC.

DATE: August 5, 2004 /s/ J. Wes Frye

J. Wes Frye

Senior Vice President — Finance and Chief
Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

DATE: August 5, 2004 /s/ John P. Booker, 111

John P. Booker, I11
Vice President - Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

23



Exhibit 3.1.1

AMENDED AND RESTATED ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
OF
OLD DOMINION FREIGHT LINE, INC.*

(Adopted in Accordance with the Provisions
of Sections 13.1-711 and 13.1-710 of the
Virginia Stock Corporation Act)

L
The name of the Corporation is OLD DOMINION FREIGHT LINE, INC.
1L

The Corporation shall have the authority to issue Seventy Million (70,000,000) shares of Common Stock having a par value of Ten
Cents ($.10) per share.

I1I.
The shareholders of the Corporation shall not have the preemptive right to acquire additional shares of the Corporation.
V.

The purpose for which the Corporation is organized is to conduct business as a motor common and contract carrier of property in
interstate, intrastate and foreign commerce and to conduct such other public service business or nonpublic service business as may be
related or incidental thereto.

V.

In any proceeding brought by a shareholder of the Corporation in the right of the Corporation or brought by or on behalf of
shareholders of the Corporation, no director or officer of the Corporation shall be liable to the Corporation or its shareholders for monetary
damages with respect to any transaction, occurrence or course of conduct, whether prior or subsequent to the effective time of this
provision, except for liability resulting from such person’s having engaged in willful misconduct or a knowing violation of the criminal law
or any federal or state securities law.

* These amended and restated articles of incorporation are a composite of the amended and restated articles of incorporation of the
registrant adopted September 10, 1991 and amendments to such articles approved by the shareholders on May 17, 2004 and July 30, 2004.
The board of directors and shareholders of the registrant have not adopted these amended and restated articles as an integrated document.



Exhibit 10.17.5
2,440,000 Shares

OLD DOMINION FREIGHT LINE, INC.
Common Stock

UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT

July 20, 2004

LEGG MASON WOOD WALKER, INCORPORATED
BB&T CAPITAL MARKETS, A DIVISION OF SCOTT & STRINGFELLOW, INC.
STEPHENS INC.

As Representatives of the Several Underwriters,
c/o Legg Mason Wood Walker, Incorporated
100 Light Street
Baltimore, Maryland 21202

Dear Sirs:

1. Introductory. Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc., a Virginia corporation (“Company”’) proposes to issue and sell 370,000 shares of
its Common Stock, par value $0.10 per share (“Securities”), and the shareholders listed in Schedule A hereto (“Selling Shareholders™)
propose severally to sell an aggregate of 2,070,000 outstanding shares of the Securities (such 2,440,000 shares of Securities being
hereinafter referred to as the “Firm Securities”’). The Company also proposes to sell to the Underwriters, at the option of the Underwriters,
an aggregate of not more than 366,000 additional shares of its Securities, as set forth below (such additional shares being hereinafter
referred to as the “Optional Securities”). The Firm Securities and the Optional Securities are herein collectively called the “Offered
Securities”. The Company and the Selling Shareholders hereby agree with the several Underwriters named in Schedule B hereto
(“Underwriters”) as follows:

2. Representations and Warranties of the Company and the Selling Shareholders. (a) The Company represents and warrants to, and
agrees with, the several Underwriters that:

(1) A registration statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-116399) relating to the Offered Securities, including a form of prospectus, has
been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) and either (A) has been declared effective under the
Securities Act of 1933 (“Act”) and is not proposed to be amended or (B) is proposed to be amended by amendment or post-effective
amendment. If such registration statement (the “initial registration statement”) has been declared effective, either (A) an additional
registration statement (the “additional registration statement”) relating to the Offered Securities may have been filed with the
Commission pursuant to Rule 462(b) (“Rule 462(b)”) under the Act and, if so filed, has become effective upon filing pursuant to such
Rule and the Offered Securities all have been duly registered under the Act pursuant to the initial registration statement and, if
applicable, the additional registration statement or (B) such an additional registration statement is proposed to be filed with the
Commission pursuant to Rule 462(b) and will become effective upon filing pursuant to such Rule and upon such filing the Offered
Securities will all have been duly registered under the Act pursuant to the initial registration statement and such additional registration
statement. If the Company does not propose to amend the initial registration statement or if an additional registration statement has
been filed and the Company does not propose to amend it, and if any post-effective amendment to either such registration statement has
been filed with the Commission prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the most recent amendment (if any) to each such
registration statement has been



declared effective by the Commission or has become effective upon filing pursuant to Rule 462(c) (“Rule 462(c)”) under the Act or, in
the case of the additional registration statement, Rule 462(b). For purposes of this Agreement, “Effective Time” with respect to the
initial registration statement or, if filed prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the additional registration statement
means (A) if the Company has advised the Representatives that it does not propose to amend such registration statement, the date and
time as of which such registration statement, or the most recent post-effective amendment thereto (if any) filed prior to the execution
and delivery of this Agreement, was declared effective by the Commission or has become effective upon filing pursuant to Rule 462(c),
or (B) if the Company has advised the Representatives that it proposes to file an amendment or post-effective amendment to such
registration statement, the date and time as of which such registration statement, as amended by such amendment or post-effective
amendment, as the case may be, is declared effective by the Commission. If an additional registration statement has not been filed prior
to the execution and delivery of this Agreement but the Company has advised the Representatives that it proposes to file one,
“Effective Time” with respect to such additional registration statement means the date and time as of which such registration statement
is filed and becomes effective pursuant to Rule 462(b). “Effective Date” with respect to the initial registration statement or the
additional registration statement (if any) means the date of the Effective Time thereof. The initial registration statement, as amended at
its Effective Time, including all material incorporated by reference therein, including all information contained in the additional
registration statement (if any) and deemed to be a part of the initial registration statement as of the Effective Time of the additional
registration statement pursuant to the General Instructions of the Form on which it is filed and including all information (if any)
deemed to be a part of the initial registration statement as of its Effective Time pursuant to Rule 430A(b) (“Rule 430A(b)”) under the
Act, is hereinafter referred to as the “Initial Registration Statement”. The additional registration statement, as amended at its
Effective Time, including the contents of the initial registration statement incorporated by reference therein and including all
information (if any) deemed to be a part of the additional registration statement as of its Effective Time pursuant to Rule 430A(b), is
hereinafter referred to as the “Additional Registration Statement”. The Initial Registration Statement and the Additional Registration
Statement are hereinafter referred to collectively as the “Registration Statements” and individually as a ‘“Registration Statement”.
The form of prospectus relating to the Offered Securities, as first filed with the Commission pursuant to and in accordance with Rule
424(b) (“Rule 424(b)”) under the Act or (if no such filing is required) as included in a Registration Statement, including all material
incorporated by reference in such prospectus, is hereinafter referred to as the “Prospectus”. No document has been or will be prepared
or distributed in reliance on Rule 434 under the Act.

(ii) If the Effective Time of the Initial Registration Statement is prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement: (A) on the
Effective Date of the Initial Registration Statement, the Initial Registration Statement conformed in all material respects to the
requirements of the Act and the rules and regulations of the Commission (“Rules and Regulations”) and did not include any untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein
not misleading, (B) on the Effective Date of the Additional Registration Statement (if any), each Registration Statement conformed or
will conform, in all material respects to the requirements of the Act and the Rules and Regulations and did not include, or will not
include, any untrue statement of a material fact and did not omit, or will not omit, to state any material fact required to be stated therein
or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and (C) on the date of this Agreement, the Initial Registration Statement
and, if the Effective Time of the Additional Registration Statement is prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the
Additional Registration Statement each conforms, and at the time of filing of the Prospectus pursuant to Rule 424(b) or (if no such
filing is required) at the Effective Date of the Additional Registration Statement in which the Prospectus is included, each Registration
Statement and the Prospectus will conform, in all material respects to the requirements of the Act and the Rules and Regulations, and
neither of such documents includes, or will include, any untrue statement of a material fact or omits, or will omit, to state any material
fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading. If the Effective Time of the Initial
Registration Statement is subsequent to the execution and delivery of this Agreement: on the Effective Date of the Initial Registration
Statement, the Initial Registration Statement and the Prospectus will conform in all material respects to the requirements of the Act and
the Rules and Regulations, neither of such documents will include any untrue statement of a material fact or will omit to state any
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and no Additional Registration
Statement



has been or will be filed. The two preceding sentences do not apply to statements in or omissions from a Registration Statement or the
Prospectus based upon written information furnished to the Company by any Underwriter through the Representatives specifically for
use therein, it being understood and agreed that the only such information is that described as such in Section 7(c) hereof.

(ii1) The documents incorporated by reference in the Prospectus, when they were filed with the Commission, conformed in all
material respects to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and the rules and
regulations of the Commission thereunder, and none of such documents contained an untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to
state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading; and any further documents
so filed and incorporated by reference in the Prospectus, when such documents are filed with Commission, will conform in all material
respects to the requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder and will not contain an
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements
therein not misleading.

(iv) The Company has been duly incorporated and is an existing corporation in good standing under the laws of the
Commonwealth of Virginia, with power and authority (corporate and other) to own its properties and conduct its business as described
in the Prospectus; and the Company is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation in good standing in all other jurisdictions
in which its ownership or lease of property or the conduct of its business requires such qualification, except where the failure to be so
qualified would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the condition (financial or other), business,
properties, results of operations or prospects of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole (“Material Adverse Effect”).

(v) Each subsidiary of the Company (the “Subsidiaries”) has been duly incorporated and is an existing corporation in good
standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation, with power and authority (corporate and other) to own its properties and
conduct its business as described in the Prospectus; and each of the Subsidiaries is duly qualified to do business as a foreign
corporation in good standing in all other jurisdictions in which its ownership or lease of property or the conduct of its business requires
such qualification, except where the failure to be so qualified would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse
Effect; all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of each of the Subsidiaries are owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company,
have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable, and, except as disclosed in the Prospectus, are free
from liens, encumbrances and defects. Other than its ownership of each of the Subsidiaries, the Company does not own or control,
either directly or indirectly, any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, association or other entity.

(vi) The Offered Securities and all other outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company have been duly authorized; all
outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company are, and when the Offered Securities are delivered and paid for in accordance with
this Agreement on each Closing Date (as defined below), such Offered Securities will be, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable
and will conform to the description thereof contained in the Prospectus; and the shareholders of the Company have no preemptive
rights with respect to the Securities.

(vii) Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, there are no contracts, agreements or understandings between the Company and any
person that would give rise to a valid claim against the Company or any Underwriter for a brokerage commission, finder’s fee or other
like payment in connection with this offering.

(viii) There are no contracts, agreements or understandings between the Company and any person granting such person the right
to require the Company to file a registration statement under the Act with respect to any securities of the Company owned or to be
owned by such person or to require the Company to include such securities in the securities registered pursuant to a Registration
Statement or in any securities being registered pursuant to any other registration statement filed by the Company under the Act.

3



(ix) No consent, approval, authorization, or order of, or filing with, any governmental agency or body or any court is required to
be obtained or made by the Company for the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in connection with the
sale of the Offered Securities, except such as have been obtained and made under the Act and such as may be required under state
securities laws or the by-laws or rules and regulations of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (“NASD”).

(x) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, and the consummation of the transactions herein contemplated
will not (i) result in a breach or violation of any of the terms and provisions of, or constitute a default under (a) any statute, rule,
regulation or order of any governmental agency or body or any court, domestic or foreign, having jurisdiction over the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries or any of their properties, (b) any agreement or instrument to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party
or by which the Company or any of such Subsidiaries is bound or to which any of the properties of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries is subject, or (c) the charter or by-laws of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (ii) result in the creation or imposition
of any lien, charge, claim or encumbrance upon any property or asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, except where a breach,
violation or default of the type specified in clauses (i)(a) and (i)(b) above and the liens, charges, claims or encumbrances described in
clause (ii) above would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect. The Company has full power and
authority to authorize, issue and sell the Offered Securities as contemplated by this Agreement.

(xi) This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company.

(xii) Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company and each of its Subsidiaries have good and marketable title to all real
properties and all other properties and assets owned by them, in each case free from liens, encumbrances and defects that would
materially affect the value thereof or materially interfere with the use made or to be made thereof by them; and except as disclosed in
the Prospectus, the Company and each of its Subsidiaries hold all leased real or personal property under valid and enforceable leases
with no exceptions that would materially interfere with the use made or to be made thereof by them.

(xiii) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries possess such certificates, authorities, licenses or permits issued by appropriate
governmental agencies or bodies (“Permits”) necessary to conduct the business now operated by them, except for such failures to have
Permits that would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries
have not received any notice of proceedings relating to the revocation or modification of any such Permit that, if determined adversely
to the Company or each of its Subsidiaries, would individually or in the aggregate have a Material Adverse Effect. The Company and
its Subsidiaries have fulfilled and performed all of their obligations with respect to such Permits, and no event or change in condition
has occurred which allows, or after notice or lapse of time or both would allow, revocation or termination thereof or result in any other
impairment of the rights of the holder of any such Permit, except as to such qualifications as are set forth in the Prospectus and except
for such failures, events, or changes which would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect.

(xiv) No labor dispute, strike, slowdown, picketing, or work stoppage, and to the Company’s knowledge no organizing effort,
relating to the employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries exists or, to the knowledge of the Company, is imminent which
would result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(xv) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries own or possess adequate trademarks, trade names and other rights to inventions,
know-how, patents, copyrights, confidential information and other intellectual property (collectively, “intellectual property rights”)
necessary to conduct the business now operated by them, or presently employed by them, and have not received any notice of
infringement of or conflict with asserted rights of others with respect to any intellectual property rights that, if determined adversely to
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, would individually or in the aggregate have a Material Adverse Effect.

(xvi) Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in violation of any statute, any rule,
regulation, decision or order of any governmental agency or body or any court, domestic or foreign, relating to the use, disposal or
release of hazardous or toxic substances or relating to the



protection or restoration of the environment or human exposure to hazardous or toxic substances (collectively, “environmental laws”),
owns or operates any real property contaminated with any substance that is subject to any environmental laws, is liable for any off-site
disposal or contamination pursuant to any environmental laws, or is subject to any claim relating to any environmental laws, which
violation, contamination, liability or claim would individually or in the aggregate have Material Adverse Effect; and the Company is
not aware of any pending investigation which might lead to such a claim.

(xvii) Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, there are no pending actions, suits or proceedings against or affecting the Company,
any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective properties that, if determined adversely to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries,
would individually or in the aggregate have a Material Adverse Effect, or would materially and adversely affect the ability of the
Company to perform its obligations under this Agreement, or which are otherwise material in the context of the sale of the Offered
Securities; and, to the Company’s knowledge, no such actions, suits or proceedings are threatened orcontemplated.

(xviii) Ernst & Young LLP, who has audited certain of the financial statements filed with the Commission as part of or
incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, is an independent registered public accounting firm as required by the Act and
the Rules and Regulations. The financial statements included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus present fairly in all material respects the financial position of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries as of the dates
shown and their results of operations and cash flows for the periods shown, and such financial statements have been prepared in
conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States applied on a consistent basis (“GAAP”); and the as
adjusted columns therein reflect the proper application of those adjustments to the corresponding historical financial statement
amounts.

(xix) Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, since the date of the latest audited financial statements included in the Prospectus,
there has been no material adverse change, nor any development or event involving a prospective material adverse change, in the
condition (financial or other), business, properties or results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.
Subsequent to the respective dates as of which information is given in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, (i) except in the
ordinary course of business, the Company and its subsidiaries have not incurred any material liability or obligation, direct or
contingent, nor entered into any material transaction; and (ii) the Company has not purchased any of its outstanding capital stock, nor
declared, paid or otherwise made any dividend or distribution of any kind on its capital stock other than ordinary and customary
dividends.

(xx) The Company is subject to the reporting requirements of either Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act and files
reports with the Commission on the Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval (EDGAR) system. The Company and the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement meet the requirements and comply with the conditions of the Rules and Regulations and
the Act to the use of a Registration Statement on Form S-3.

(xxi) The Company is not and, after giving effect to the offering and sale of the Offered Securities and the application of the
proceeds thereof as described in the Prospectus, will not be an “investment company” as defined in the Investment Company Act of
1940.

(xxii) Except as would not result in a Material Adverse Effect: (A) all federal, state and local Tax Returns required to be filed by
the Company have been timely filed; (B) the Company has timely paid all amounts due in respect of Taxes (whether or not shown on
any Tax Return), or has otherwise set up reserves in accordance with GAAP in respect of all Taxes for any periods not fully determined
and such reserves are reasonable; (C) there are no pending, or to the Company’s knowledge, threatened, actions or proceedings for the
assessment or collection of Taxes against the Company, and, to the Company’s knowledge, no authority intends to assess any
additional Taxes for any period for which Tax Returns have been filed; (D) the Company is not currently the beneficiary of any
extension of time within which to file any Tax Return; (E) during the past five (5) years, no claim has ever been made by an authority
in a jurisdiction where the Company does not file Tax Returns that it is or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction; (F) the
Company has withheld and paid all Taxes required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid or owing to any
employee, independent



contractor, creditor, shareholder, or other third party; and (G) the Company has not waived any statute of limitations in respect of
Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with respect to a Tax assessment or deficiency. For the purposes of the foregoing, (x) “Tax”
or “Taxes” means any federal, state, local, or foreign income, gross receipts, license, payroll, employment, excise, severance, stamp,
occupation, premium, windfall profits, environmental (including taxes under Internal Revenue Code section 59A), customs duties,
capital stock, franchise, profits, withholding, social security (or similar), unemployment, disability, real property, personal property,
sales, use, transfer, registration, value added, alternative or add-on minimum, estimated, or other tax of any kind whatsoever, including
any interest, penalty, or addition thereto, whether disputed or not, and including any obligation to indemnify or otherwise assume or
succeed to the Tax liability of another person and (y) “Tax Return” means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, or
information return or statement relating to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.

(xxiii) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries is in compliance in all material respects with all presently applicable provisions
of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, including the regulations and published interpretations
thereunder (“ERISA”); neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries currently has and at no time in the past has had an obligation to
contribute to a “defined benefit plan” as defined in Section 3(35) of ERISA, a pension plan subject to the funding standards of Section
302 of ERISA or Section 412 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, including the regulations and published
interpretations thereunder (the “Code”), a “multiemployer plan” as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA or Section 414(f) of the Code or
a “multiple employer plan” within the meaning of Section 210(a) of ERISA or Section 413(c) of the Code; and each “pension plan” (as
defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA) for which the Company or any Subsidiary would have any liability that is intended to be qualified
under Section 401(a) of the Code is so qualified in all material respects and nothing has occurred, whether by action or by failure to act,
which would cause the loss of such qualification.

(xxiv) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries maintains a system of internal controls sufficient to provide reasonable
assurances that (i) material information relating to the Company, including its Subsidiaries, is made known to the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer by others within those entities, (ii) transactions are executed in accordance with
management’s general or specific authorization; (iii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and to maintain accountability for assets; (iv) access to assets is
permitted only in accordance with management’s general or specific authorization; and (v) the recorded accountability for assets is
compared with existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any differences. The Company’s
auditors and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company have been advised of: (i) any significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls that could adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process,
summarize, and report financial data; and (ii) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a role in the Company’s internal controls.

(b) Each Selling Shareholder severally represents and warrants to, and agrees with, the several Underwriters that:

(i) This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Selling Shareholder.

(i1) No consent, approval, authorization or order of, or filing with, any governmental agency or body or any court is required to be
obtained or made by the Selling Shareholder for the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Custody
Agreement in connection with the sale of the Offered Securities sold by the Selling Shareholder, except such as have been obtained and
made under the Act and such as may be required under state securities laws or the by-laws or rules and regulations of the NASD.

(iii) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Custody Agreement and the consummation of the
transactions herein and therein contemplated will not result in a breach or violation of any of the terms and provisions of, or constitute a
default under, (A) any statute, any rule, or regulation applicable
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to the Selling Shareholder or to transactions of the type contemplated by this Agreement or the Custody Agreement any order of any
governmental agency or body or any court having jurisdiction over the Selling Shareholder or any of his, her, or its properties, or (B)
any agreement or instrument to which the Selling Shareholder is a party or by which the Selling Shareholder is bound or to which any
of the properties of the Selling Shareholder is subject, including any trust agreement.

(iv) Such Selling Shareholder has and on each Closing Date hereinafter mentioned will have valid and unencumbered title to the
Offered Securities to be delivered by such Selling Shareholder on such Closing Date and full right, power and authority to enter into
this Agreement and to sell, assign, transfer and deliver the Offered Securities to be delivered by such Selling Shareholder on such
Closing Date hereunder; and upon the delivery of and payment for the Offered Securities on each Closing Date hereunder the several
Underwriters will acquire valid and unencumbered title to the Offered Securities to be delivered by such Selling Shareholder on such
Closing Date.

(v) Such Selling Shareholder has reviewed and is familiar with the Registration Statement and the Prospectus and (i) has no
knowledge of any information with regard to the Company or the Subsidiaries which (A) is not disclosed in the Registration Statement
and the Prospectus, and (B) concerns an event or circumstance that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (ii)
has no knowledge of any misstatement of a material fact or failure to state a material fact necessary to make the statements in the
Prospectus, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, and (iii) is not prompted to sell the Firm
Securities to be sold by such Selling Shareholder by any material information concerning the Company or any Subsidiary which is not
set forth in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus.

(vi) Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, there are no contracts, agreements or understandings between such Selling Shareholder
and any person that would give rise to a valid claim against such Selling Shareholder or any Underwriter for a brokerage commission,
finder’s fee or other like payment in connection with this offering.

3. Purchase, Sale and Delivery of Offered Securities. On the basis of the representations, warranties and agreements herein contained,
but subject to the terms and conditions herein set forth, the Company and each Selling Shareholder agree, severally and not jointly, to sell to
each Underwriter, and each Underwriter agrees, severally and not jointly, to purchase from the Company and each Selling Shareholder, at a
purchase price of $27.29 per share, that number of Firm Securities (rounded up or down, as determined by Legg Mason Wood Walker,
Incorporated (“Legg Mason”) in its discretion, in order to avoid fractions) obtained by multiplying 370,000 Firm Securities in the case of
the Company and the number of Firm Securities set forth opposite the name of such Selling Shareholder in Schedule A hereto, in the case
of a Selling Shareholder, in each case by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of Firm Securities set forth opposite the name of
such Underwriter in Schedule B hereto and the denominator of which is the total number of Firm Securities.

Certificates in negotiable form for the Offered Securities to be sold by the Selling Shareholders hereunder have been placed in
custody, for delivery under this Agreement, under Custody Agreements made with American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as
custodian (“Custodian”). Each Selling Shareholder agrees that the shares represented by the certificates held in custody for the Selling
Shareholders under such Custody Agreements are subject to the interests of the Underwriters hereunder, that the arrangements made by the
Selling Shareholders for such custody are to that extent irrevocable, and that the obligations of the Selling Shareholders hereunder shall not
be terminated by operation of law, whether by the death of any individual Selling Shareholder or the occurrence of any other event, or in
the case of a trust, by the death of any trustee or trustees or the termination of such trust. If any individual Selling Shareholder or any such
trustee or trustees should die, or if any other such event should occur, or if any of such trusts should terminate, before the delivery of the
Offered Securities hereunder, certificates for such Offered Securities shall be delivered by the Custodian in accordance with the terms and
conditions of this Agreement as if such death or other event or termination had not occurred, regardless of whether or not the Custodian
shall have received notice of such death or other event or termination.
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The Company and the Custodian will deliver the Firm Securities to the Representatives through the facilities of the Depository Trust
Company (“DTC”) unless the Representatives shall otherwise instruct, for the accounts of the Underwriters, against payment of the
purchase price in Federal (same day) funds by wire transfer to an account or accounts at a bank or banks designated by the Company or a
Selling Shareholder and reasonably acceptable to Legg Mason drawn to the order of Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc. in the case of
370,000 shares of Firm Securities and the shareholders listed on Schedule A hereto in the case of an aggregate of 2,070,000 shares of Firm
Securities, at the office of Scudder Law Firm, P.C., L.L.O., 411 S. 13" Street, Suite 200, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508, at 9:00 A.M., Baltimore
time, on July 26, 2004, or at such other time not later than seven full business days thereafter as Legg Mason and the Company determine,
such time being herein referred to as the “First Closing Date”. For purposes of Rule 15¢6-1 under the Exchange Act, the First Closing
Date (if later than the otherwise applicable settlement date) shall be the settlement date for payment of funds and delivery of securities for
all the Offered Securities sold pursuant to the offering. The certificates for the Firm Securities so to be delivered will be in definitive or
book-entry form, in such denominations and registered in such names as Legg Mason requests and will be made available for checking and
packaging at the office of DTC or its designated custodian, unless the Representatives shall otherwise instruct, at least 24 hours prior to the
First Closing Date.

In addition, upon written notice from Legg Mason given to the Company from time to time not more than 30 days subsequent to the
date of the Prospectus, the Underwriters may purchase all or less than all of the Optional Securities at the purchase price per Security to be
paid for the Firm Securities. The Company agrees to sell to the Underwriters the number of Optional Securities specified in such notice,
and the Underwriters agree, severally and not jointly, to purchase such Optional Securities. Such Optional Securities shall be purchased for
the account of each Underwriter in the same proportion as the number of Firm Securities set forth opposite such Underwriter’s name bears
to the total number of Firm Securities (subject to adjustment by Legg Mason to eliminate fractions) and may be purchased by the
Underwriters only for the purpose of covering over-allotments made in connection with the sale of the Firm Securities. No Optional
Securities shall be sold or delivered unless the Firm Securities previously have been, or simultaneously are, sold and delivered. The right to
purchase the Optional Securities or any portion thereof may be exercised from time to time and to the extent not previously exercised may
be surrendered and terminated at any time upon notice by Legg Mason to the Company.

Each time for the delivery of and payment for the Optional Securities, being herein referred to as an “Optional Closing Date”, which
may be the First Closing Date (the First Closing Date and each Optional Closing Date, if any, being sometimes referred to as a “Closing
Date”), shall be determined by Legg Mason but shall be not later than five full business days after written notice of election to purchase
Optional Securities is given. The Company and the Custodian will deliver the Optional Securities being purchased on each Optional
Closing Date to the Representatives, through the facilities of DTC unless the Representatives shall otherwise instruct, for the accounts of
the several Underwriters, against payment of the purchase price therefor in Federal (same day) funds by wire transfer to an account or
accounts at a bank or banks designated by the Company and reasonably acceptable to Legg Mason drawn to the order of Old Dominion
Freight Line, Inc., at the above office of Scudder Law Firm, P.C., L.L.O. The certificates for the Optional Securities being purchased on
each Optional Closing Date will be in definitive or book-entry form, in such denominations and registered in such names as Legg Mason
requests upon reasonable notice prior to such Optional Closing Date and will be made available for checking and packaging at the above
office of DTC or its designated custodian, unless the Representatives shall otherwise instruct at a reasonable time in advance of such
Optional Closing Date.

4. Offering by Underwriters. It is understood that the several Underwriters propose to offer the Offered Securities for sale to the
public as set forth in the Prospectus.

5. Certain Agreements of the Company and the Selling Shareholders. The Company and the Selling Shareholders agree with the
several Underwriters and, as applicable, the Company agrees with the Selling Shareholders that:

(a) If the Effective Time of the Initial Registration Statement is prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the
Company will file the Prospectus with the Commission pursuant to and in accordance with subparagraph (1) (or, if applicable and if
consented to by Legg Mason, subparagraph (4)) of Rule 424(b) not
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later than the earlier of (A) the second business day following the execution and delivery of this Agreement or (B) the fifteenth
business day after the Effective Date of the Initial Registration Statement.

The Company will advise Legg Mason promptly of any such filing pursuant to Rule 424(b). If the Effective Time of the Initial
Registration Statement is prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement and an additional registration statement is necessary to
register a portion of the Offered Securities under the Act but the Effective Time thereof has not occurred as of such execution and
delivery, the Company will file the additional registration statement or, if filed, will file a post-effective amendment thereto with the
Commission pursuant to and in accordance with Rule 462(b) on or prior to 10:00 P.M., Baltimore time, on the date of this Agreement
or, if earlier, on or prior to the time the Prospectus is printed and distributed to any Underwriter, or will make such filing at such later
date as shall have been consented to by Legg Mason.

(b) The Company will advise Legg Mason promptly of any proposal to amend or supplement the initial or any additional
registration statement as filed or the related prospectus or the Initial Registration Statement, the Additional Registration Statement (if
any) or the Prospectus and will not effect such amendment or supplementation without the consent of Legg Mason; and the Company
will also advise Legg Mason promptly of the effectiveness of each Registration Statement (if its Effective Time is subsequent to the
execution and delivery of this Agreement) and of any amendment or supplementation of a Registration Statement or the Prospectus and
of the institution by the Commission of any stop order proceedings in respect of a Registration Statement and will use its best efforts to
prevent the issuance of any such stop order and to obtain as soon as possible its lifting, if issued.

(c) If, at any time when a prospectus relating to the Offered Securities is required to be delivered under the Act in connection with
sales by any Underwriter or dealer, any event occurs as a result of which the Prospectus as then amended or supplemented would
include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or if it is necessary at any time to amend the Prospectus to comply with
the Act, the Company will promptly notify Legg Mason and the Selling Shareholders of such event and will promptly prepare and file
with the Commission, at its own expense, an amendment or supplement which will correct such statement or omission or an
amendment which will effect such compliance. Neither the consent of Legg Mason to, nor the Underwriters’ delivery of, any such
amendment or supplement shall constitute a waiver of any of the conditions set forth in Section 6.

(d) As soon as practicable, but not later than the Availability Date (as defined below), the Company will make generally available
to its securityholders an earnings statement covering a period of at least 12 months beginning after the Effective Date of the Initial
Registration Statement (or, if later, the Effective Date of the Additional Registration Statement) which will satisfy the provisions of
Section 11(a) of the Act. For the purpose of the preceding sentence, “Availability Date” means the 45th day after the end of the fourth
fiscal quarter following the fiscal quarter that includes such Effective Date, except that, if such fourth fiscal quarter is the last quarter of
the Company’s fiscal year, “Availability Date” means the 90th day after the end of such fourth fiscal quarter.

(e) The Company will furnish to the Representatives copies of each Registration Statement one (1) of which will be signed and
will include all exhibits), each related preliminary prospectus, and, so long as a prospectus relating to the Offered Securities is required
to be delivered under the Act in connection with sales by any Underwriter or dealer, the Prospectus and all amendments and
supplements to such documents, in each case in such quantities as Legg Mason reasonably requests. The Prospectus shall be so
furnished on or prior to 3:00 P.M., Baltimore time, on the business day following the later of the execution and delivery of this
Agreement or the Effective Time of the Initial Registration Statement. All other such documents shall be so furnished as soon as
available. The Company will pay the expenses of printing and distributing to the Underwriters all such documents.

(f) The Company will arrange for the qualification of the Offered Securities for sale under the laws of such jurisdictions as Legg
Mason designates and will continue such qualifications in effect so long as required for the distribution.
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(g) For a period of 90 days after the date of the public offering of the Offered Securities, the Company will not offer, sell,
contract to sell, pledge or otherwise dispose of, directly or indirectly, or file with the Commission a registration statement under the
Act relating to, any additional shares of its Securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any shares of its
Securities, or publicly disclose the intention to make any such offer, sale, pledge, disposition or filing, without the prior written consent
of Legg Mason except issuances of Securities pursuant to the conversion or exchange of convertible or exchangeable securities or the
exercise of warrants or options, in each case outstanding on the date hereof, grants of stock options pursuant to the terms of a plan in
effect on the date hereof or issuances of Securities pursuant to the exercise of such options, issuances of Securities in an acquisition
transaction, or the filing of registration statements on Form S-8 relating to benefit plans or on Form S-4 relating to a business
combination transaction under Rule 145 of the Act.

(h) The Company agrees with the several Underwriters and the Selling Shareholders that the Company will pay all expenses
incident to the performance of the obligations of the Company and the Selling Shareholders under this Agreement, for any filing fees
and other expenses (including fees and disbursements of counsel) in connection with qualification of the Offered Securities for sale
under the laws of such jurisdictions as Legg Mason designates and the printing of memoranda relating thereto, for the filing fee
incident to the review by the NASD of the Offered Securities, for any travel expenses of the Company’s officers and employees and
any other expenses of the Company in connection with attending or hosting meetings with prospective purchasers of the Offered
Securities, for any transfer taxes on the sale by the Selling Shareholders of the Offered Securities to the Underwriters and for expenses
incurred in distributing preliminary prospectuses and the Prospectus (including any amendments and supplements thereto) to the
Underwriters.

(1) Each Selling Shareholder agrees, for a period of 90 days after the date of the public offering of the Offered Securities, not to
offer, sell, contract to sell, pledge (other than pledges of Securities as security for personal or business loans) or otherwise dispose of,
directly or indirectly, any additional shares of the Securities of the Company or securities convertible into or exchangeable or
exercisable for any shares of Securities, enter into a transaction which would have the same effect, or enter into any swap, hedge or
other arrangement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of the Securities, whether any
such aforementioned transaction is to be settled by delivery of the Securities or such other securities, in cash or otherwise, or publicly
disclose the intention to make any such offer, sale, pledge or disposition, or enter into any such transaction, swap, hedge or other
arrangement, without, in each case, the prior written consent of Legg Mason.

6. Conditions of the Obligations of the Underwriters. The obligations of the several Underwriters to purchase and pay for the Firm
Securities on the First Closing Date and the Optional Securities to be purchased on each Optional Closing Date will be subject to the
accuracy of the representations and warranties on the part of the Company and the Selling Shareholders herein, to the accuracy of the
statements of Company officers made pursuant to the provisions hereof, to the performance by the Company and the Selling Shareholders
of their obligations hereunder and to the following additional conditions precedent:

(a) The Representatives shall have received a letter, dated the date of delivery thereof (which, if the Effective Time of the Initial
Registration Statement is prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, shall be on or prior to the date of this Agreement or, if
the Effective Time of the Initial Registration Statement is subsequent to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, shall be prior to
the filing of the amendment or post-effective amendment to the registration statement to be filed shortly prior to such Effective Time),
of Ernst & Young LLP confirming that they are an independent registered public accounting firm within the meaning of the Act and
the applicable published Rules and Regulations thereunder and stating to the effect that:

(i) in their opinion the financial statements as of December 31, 2003 and 2002and for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2003, examined by them and included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statements comply as
to form in all material respects with the applicable accounting requirements of the Act and the related published Rules and
Regulations;
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(ii) they have performed the procedures specified by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants for a review of
interim financial information as described in Statement of Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 100, Interim Financial Information, on
the unaudited financial statements as of and for the three month period ended March 31, 2004, included or incorporated by
reference in the Registration Statements, and a review of the interim financial information as described in SAS No. 100, Interim
Financial Information, on the unaudited financial statements as of and for such periods included or incorporated by reference in
the Registration Statements;

(iii) on the basis of the review referred to in clause (ii) above, a reading of the latest available interim financial statements of
the Company, inquiries of officials of the Company who have responsibility for financial and accounting matters and other
specified procedures, nothing came to their attention that caused them to believe that:

(A) the unaudited financial statements included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statements do not
comply as to form in all material respects with the applicable accounting requirements of the Act and the related published
Rules and Regulations or any material modifications should be made to such unaudited financial statements for them to be
in conformity with GAAP;

(B) at the date of the latest available balance sheet read by such accountants, or at a subsequent specified date not
more than three business days prior to the date of this Agreement, there was any change in the capital stock or any increase
in short-term indebtedness or long-term debt of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries or, at the date of the latest
available balance sheet read by such accountants, there was any decrease in consolidated net current assets or net assets, as
compared with amounts shown on the latest balance sheet included in the Prospectus; or

(C) for the period from the closing date of the latest income statement included or incorporated by reference in the
Prospectus to the closing date of the latest available income statement read by such accountants there were any decreases,
as compared with the corresponding period of the previous year and with the period of corresponding length ended the
date of the latest income statement included in the Prospectus, in consolidated net operating revenues or in the total or per
share amounts of consolidated net income;

except in all cases set forth in clauses (B) and (C) above for changes, increases or decreases which the Prospectus discloses have
occurred or may occur or which are described in such letter;

(iv) they have compared specified dollar amounts (or percentages derived from such dollar amounts) and other financial
information contained in the Registration Statements (in each case to the extent that such dollar amounts, percentages and other
financial information are derived from the general accounting records of the Company and its Subsidiaries subject to the internal
controls of the Company’s accounting system or are derived directly from such records by analysis or computation) with the
results obtained from inquiries, a reading of such general accounting records and other procedures specified in such letter and
have found such dollar amounts, percentages and other financial information to be in agreement with such results, except as
otherwise specified in such letter.

For purposes of this subsection, (i) if the Effective Time of the Initial Registration Statements is subsequent to the execution and
delivery of this Agreement, “Registration Statements” shall mean the initial registration statement as proposed to be amended by the
amendment or post-effective amendment to be filed shortly prior to its Effective Time, (ii) if the Effective Time of the Initial
Registration Statements is prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement but the Effective Time of the Additional Registration
Statement is subsequent to such execution and delivery, “Registration Statements” shall mean the Initial Registration Statement and
the additional registration statement as proposed to be filed or as proposed to be amended by the post-effective amendment to be filed
shortly prior to its Effective Time, and (iii) “Prospectus” shall mean the prospectus included in the Registration Statements.
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(b) If the Effective Time of the Initial Registration Statement is not prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, such
Effective Time shall have occurred not later than 10:00 P.M., Baltimore time, on the date of this Agreement or such later date as shall
have been consented to by Legg Mason. If the Effective Time of the Additional Registration Statement (if any) is not prior to the
execution and delivery of this Agreement, such Effective Time shall have occurred not later than 10:00 P.M., Baltimore time, on the
date of this Agreement or, if earlier, the time the Prospectus is printed and distributed to any Underwriter, or shall have occurred at
such later date as shall have been consented to by Legg Mason. If the Effective Time of the Initial Registration Statement is prior to the
execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Prospectus shall have been filed with the Commission in accordance with the Rules and
Regulations and Section 5(a) of this Agreement. Prior to such Closing Date, no stop order suspending the effectiveness of a
Registration Statement shall have been issued, and no proceedings for that purpose shall have been instituted or, to the knowledge of
any Selling Shareholder, the Company or the Representatives, shall be contemplated by the Commission.

(c) Subsequent to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred (i) any change, or any development
or event involving a prospective change, in the condition (financial or other), business, properties or results of operations of the
Company and its Subsidiaries taken as one enterprise which, in the judgment of the Representatives, is material and adverse and makes
it impractical or inadvisable to proceed with completion of the public offering or the sale of and payment for the Offered Securities; (ii)
any downgrading in the rating of any debt securities of the Company by any “nationally recognized statistical rating organization” (as
defined for purposes of Rule 436(g) under the Act), or any public announcement that any such organization has under surveillance or
review its rating of any debt securities of the Company (other than an announcement with positive implications of a possible upgrading,
and no implication of a possible downgrading, of such rating); (iii) any change in U.S. or international financial, political or economic
conditions or currency exchange rates or exchange controls as would, in the judgment of the Representatives, be likely to prejudice
materially the success of the proposed issue, sale or distribution of the Offered Securities, whether in the primary market or in respect
of dealings in the secondary market; (iv) any material suspension or material limitation of trading in securities generally on the New
York Stock Exchange or the Nasdaq National Market, or any setting of minimum prices for trading on such exchange or market, or any
suspension of trading of any securities of the Company on any exchange or market or in the over-the-counter market; (v) any banking
moratorium declared by U.S. Federal or New York authorities; (vi) any major disruption of settlements of securities or clearance
services in the United States; or (vii) any attack on, outbreak or escalation of hostilities or act of terrorism involving the United States,
any declaration of war by Congress or any other national or international calamity or emergency if, in the judgment of the
Representatives, the effect of any such attack, outbreak, escalation, act, declaration, calamity or emergency, singly or together with any
other event specified in this clause (vii), makes it impractical or inadvisable to proceed with completion of the public offering or the
sale of and payment for the Offered Securities.

(d) The Representatives shall have received an opinion, dated such Closing Date, of Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, PLLC,
counsel for the Company, to the effect that:

(i) The Company has been duly incorporated and is an existing corporation in good standing under the laws of the
Commonwealth of Virginia, with corporate power and authority to own its properties and conduct its business as described in the
Prospectus; and the Company is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation in good standing in North Carolina;

(i1) The Offered Securities delivered on such Closing Date and all other outstanding shares of the Common Stock of the
Company have been duly authorized; all outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company are, and, when the Offered Securities
are delivered and paid for in accordance with this Agreement on such Closing Date, such Offered Securities will be, validly
issued, fully paid and nonassessable and will conform to the description thereof contained in the Prospectus; and (A) the
shareholders of the Company have no statutory preemptive rights with respect to the Securities, and (B) to the knowledge of such
counsel, the shareholders of the Company have no contractual preemptive rights with respect to the Securities;
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(iii) Except as set forth in the Prospectus, to such counsel’s knowledge, there are no contracts, agreements or understandings
between the Company and any person granting such person the right to require the Company to file a registration statement under
the Act with respect to any securities of the Company owned or to be owned by such person or to require the Company to include
such securities in the securities registered pursuant to the Registration Statement or in any securities being registered pursuant to
any other registration statement filed by the Company under the Act;

(iv) No consent, approval, authorization or order of, or filing with, any governmental agency or body or any court is
required to be obtained or made by the Company for the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in
connection with the sale of the Offered Securities, except such as have been obtained and made under the Act and such as may be
required under state securities laws or the by-laws or rules and regulations of the NASD;

(v) The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions therein contemplated (A) to
such counsel’s knowledge, do not violate any applicable law or any order of any court or governmental authority that is binding
on the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or any of their assets(except that such counsel need not express an opinion regarding any
federal securities laws or Blue Sky or state securities laws) , (B) do not violate or constitute a breach or default under any loan
agreement, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust or other agreement or instrument filed as an exhibit to or incorporated by reference
in the Registration Statement, the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, or the
Company’s Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2004, and June 30, 2004, to which the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is bound or to which any of the properties of
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is subject, and (C) do not violate the charter or by-laws of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, except where a breach, violation or default of the type specified in clause (B) above would not, individually or in the
aggregate, be reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(vi) The Company is not and, after giving effect to the offering and sale of the Offered Securities and the application of the
proceeds thereof as described under the caption “Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus will not be, required to be registered as an
“investment company” as such term is defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940;

(vii) The Initial Registration Statement was declared effective under the Act as of the date and time specified in such
opinion, the Additional Registration Statement (if any) was filed and became effective under the Act as of the date and time (if
determinable) specified in such opinion, the Prospectus either was filed with the Commission pursuant to the subparagraph of
Rule 424(b) specified in such opinion on the date specified therein or was included in the Initial Registration Statement or the
Additional Registration Statement (as the case may be), and, to the knowledge of such counsel, no stop order suspending the
effectiveness of a Registration Statement or any part thereof has been issued and no proceedings for that purpose have been
instituted or are pending or contemplated under the Act, and each Registration Statement and the Prospectus, and each
amendment or supplement thereto, as of their respective effective or issue dates, complied as to form in all material respects with
the requirements of the Act and the Rules and Regulations; and the reports incorporated by reference in the Prospectus, when
they were filed with the Commission complied as to form in all material respects with the requirements of the Exchange Act and
the rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder;

(viii) The descriptions in the Registration Statements and Prospectus of statutes, legal and governmental proceedings and
contracts and other documents are accurate in all material respects and fairly present in all material respects the information
required to be shown (with the exception of the descriptions regarding government regulation, as to which we express no
opinion); and such counsel
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do not know of any legal or governmental proceedings required to be described in a Registration Statement or the Prospectus
which are not described as required or of any contracts or documents of a character required to be described in a Registration
Statement or the Prospectus or to be filed as exhibits to a Registration Statement which are not described and filed as required; it
being understood that such counsel need express no opinion as to the financial statements or other financial or statistical data
contained or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statements or the Prospectus; and

(ix) This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company.

In addition to the matters set forth above, such counsel shall also include a statement to the effect that, in the course of its assistance in
the preparation of the Registration Statements and the Prospectus, such counsel has participated in conferences with officers and other
representatives of the Company, the Underwriters, counsel for the Underwriters and representatives of the independent public
accountants of the Company, at which conferences the contents of the Registration Statements and the Prospectus were discussed, that
such counsel has considered the matters required to be stated therein and the statements contained therein, and that although such
counsel does not pass on and does not assume any responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the statements contained
in the Registration Statements or the Prospectus, and such counsel has not independently verified the accuracy, completeness or
fairness of such statements except as specified in subsection (ix) above, on the basis of the foregoing and the information that was
disclosed to such counsel, (i) no information came to such counsel’s attention that leads such counsel to believe that the Registration
Statement (including any document filed under the Exchange Act and incorporated by reference therein), as of its effective date (but
after giving effect to changes incorporated pursuant to Rule 430A under the Act), contained any untrue statement of a material fact or
omitted to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading (except for the
financial statements, including the notes and schedules thereto and the auditor’s report thereon, or any other financial or statistical data
or accounting information set forth or referred to in the Registration Statement or any document incorporated therein by reference or
any exhibits thereto, as to which such counsel expresses no view), and (ii) no information has come to such counsel’s attention that
leads such counsel to believe that the Prospectus, as of its date or the date of such counsel’s opinion, contained or contains any untrue
statement of a material fact or omitted or omits to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading (except for the financial statements, including the notes and schedules
thereto and the auditor’s report thereon, or any other financial or statistical data or accounting information set forth or referred to in the
Prospectus or any document incorporated therein by reference or any exhibits thereto, as to which such counsel expresses no view).

(e) The Representatives shall have received an opinion, dated such Closing Date, of Joel B. McCarty, Jr., Senior Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary of the Company, to the effect that:

(i) The Company is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation in good standing in all jurisdictions in which its
ownership or lease of property or the conduct of its business requires such qualification, except where the failure to be so
qualified would not, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect; and

(i1) The descriptions in the Registration Statements and Prospectus of government regulation are accurate in all material
respects and fairly present in all material respects the information required to be shown.

(f) The Representatives shall have received opinions, dated such Closing Date, of Edwards & Angell LLP, in the case of the Earl
E. Congdon Intangibles Trust, of Hirschler Fleischer, P.C., in the case of the John R. Congdon Revocable Trust, the John R. Congdon,
Jr. Revocable Trust, the Susan C. Terry Revocable Trust, and the Jeffrey W. Congdon Revocable Trust, and of Keziah, Gates & Samet,
L.L.P., in the case of the David S. Congdon Revocable Trust, dated 12/3/91, the Audrey L. Congdon Revocable Trust, and the Karen
Congdon Pigman Revocable Trust, in each case to the effect that:
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(i) To the knowledge of such counsel, (A) each Selling Shareholder for whom the opinion is provided has valid and
unencumbered title to the Offered Securities to be sold by such Selling Shareholder on each Closing Date which Offered
Securities are represented by the certificates being concurrently deposited with American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as
custodian (the “Custodian”), pursuant to the Custody Agreement (the “Custody Agreement”), between such Selling Shareholder
and the Custodian, and has full right, power and authority to sell, assign, transfer and deliver the Offered Securities delivered by
such Selling Shareholder on such Closing Date hereunder, and (B) upon delivery thereof and payment therefor in accordance with
this Agreement, and assuming such Underwriters are bona fide purchasers, the several Underwriters will have acquired valid and
unencumbered title to the Offered Securities purchased by them from such Selling Shareholder on such Closing Date hereunder;

(ii) No consent, approval, authorization or order of, or filing with, any governmental agency or body or any court is required
to be obtained or made by any Selling Shareholder for whom the opinion is provided for the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement or the Custody Agreement in connection with the sale of the Offered Securities sold by such
Selling Shareholders, except such as have been obtained and made under the Act and such as may be required under state
securities laws or the by-laws or rules and regulations of the NASD;

(iii) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Custody Agreement and the consummation of the
transactions herein and therein contemplated will not result in a breach or violation of any of the terms and provisions of, or
constitute a default under (A) any statute, any rule, or regulation that such counsel has, in the exercise of customary professional
diligence, recognized as applicable to any Selling Shareholder for whom the opinion is provided or to transactions of the type
contemplated by this Agreement or the Custody Agreement (except that such counsel need not express an opinion regarding any
federal securities laws or Blue Sky or state securities laws) or, to such counsel’s knowledge, any order of any governmental
agency or body or any court having jurisdiction over any Selling Shareholder for whom the opinion is provided or any of their
properties or (B) to such counsel’s knowledge, any agreement or instrument to which any Selling Shareholder for whom the
opinion is provided is a party or by which any such Selling Shareholder is bound or to which any of the properties of any such
Selling Shareholder is subject;

(iv) This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by each Selling Shareholder for whom the opinion is
provided; and

(v) Each of the Custody Agreement and the Power of Attorney, dated the date of the Custody Agreement, of each Selling
Shareholder for whom the opinion is provided has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by such Selling Shareholder and
constitutes a valid and legally binding obligation of such Selling Shareholder enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to
bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws of general applicability relating to or
affecting creditors’ rights and to general equity principles.

(g) The Representatives shall have received from Scudder Law Firm, P.C., L.L.O., counsel for the Underwriters, such opinion or

opinions, dated such Closing Date, with respect to the incorporation of the Company, the validity of the Offered Securities delivered on
such Closing Date, the Registration Statements, the Prospectus and other related matters as the Representatives may require, and the
Selling Shareholders and the Company shall have furnished to such counsel such documents as they request for the purpose of
enabling them to pass upon such matters. In rendering such opinion, Scudder Law Firm, P.C., L.L.O. may rely as to the incorporation
of the Company upon the opinion of Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, PLLC referred to above.

(h) The Representatives shall have received a certificate, dated such Closing Date, of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief

Financial Officer of the Company in which such officers, to their knowledge after reasonable investigation, shall state that: the
representations and warranties of the Company in this Agreement are true and correct; the Company has complied with all agreements
and satisfied all conditions on
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its part to be performed or satisfied hereunder at or prior to such Closing Date; no stop order suspending the effectiveness of any
Registration Statement has been issued and no proceedings for that purpose have been instituted or are contemplated by the
Commission; the Additional Registration Statement (if any) satisfying the requirements of subparagraphs (1) and (3) of Rule 462(b)
was filed pursuant to Rule 462(b), including payment of the applicable filing fee in accordance with Rule 111(a) or (b) under the Act,
prior to the time the Prospectus was printed and distributed to any Underwriter; and, subsequent to the respective dates of the most
recent financial statements in the Prospectus, there has been no material adverse change, nor any development or event involving a
prospective material adverse change, in the condition (financial or other), business, properties or results of operations of the Company
and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole except as set forth in the Prospectus or as described in such certificate.

(i) The Representatives shall have received a letter, dated such Closing Date, of Ernst & Young LLP which meets the
requirements of subsection (a) of this Section, except that the specified date referred to in such subsection will be a date not more than
three days prior to such Closing Date for the purposes of this subsection.

(j) On or prior to the date of this Agreement, the Representatives shall have received lockup letters from each director and
executive officer of the Company.

(k) Each Selling Shareholder will deliver to Legg Mason a properly completed and executed United States Treasury Department
Form W-9 (or other applicable form or statement specified by the United States Treasury Department regulations in lieu thereof).

The Selling Shareholders and the Company will furnish the Representatives with such conformed copies of such opinions, certificates,
letters and documents as the Representatives reasonably request. Legg Mason may in its sole discretion waive on behalf of the
Underwriters compliance with any conditions to the obligations of the Underwriters hereunder, whether in respect of an Optional Closing
Date or otherwise.

7. Indemnification and Contribution. (a) The Company will indemnify and hold harmless each Underwriter, its partners, members,
directors and officers and each person, if any who controls such Underwriter within the meaning of Section 15 of the Act (the
“Underwriter Indemnitees”), against any losses, claims, damages or liabilities, joint or several, to which such Underwriter may become
subject, under the Act or otherwise, insofar as such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) arise out of or are
based upon any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of any material fact contained in any Registration Statement, the Prospectus,
or any amendment or supplement thereto, or any related preliminary prospectus, or arise out of or are based upon the omission or alleged
omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and will
reimburse each Underwriter for any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such Underwriter in connection with investigating or
defending any such loss, claim, damage, liability or action as such expenses are incurred; provided, however, that the Company will not be
liable in any such case to the extent that any such loss, claim, damage or liability arises out of or is based upon an untrue statement or
alleged untrue statement in or omission or alleged omission from any of such documents in reliance upon and in conformity with written
information furnished to the Company by any Underwriter through the Representatives specifically for use therein, it being understood and
agreed that the only such information furnished by any Underwriter consists of the information described as such in subsection (c) below;
and provided, further, that with respect to any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement in or omission or alleged omission from any
preliminary prospectus, the indemnity agreement contained in this subsection (a) shall not inure to the benefit of any Underwriter from
whom the person asserting any such losses, claims, damages or liabilities purchased the Offered Securities concerned, to the extent that a
prospectus relating to such Offered Securities was required to be delivered by such Underwriter under the Act in connection with such
purchase and any such loss, claim, damage or liability of such Underwriter results from the fact that there was not sent or given to such
person, at or prior to the written confirmation of the sale of such Offered Securities to such person, a copy of the Prospectus (exclusive of
material incorporated by reference therein) if the Company had previously furnished copies thereof to such Underwriter.

(b) Each Selling Shareholder will severally, and not jointly, indemnify and hold harmless the Underwriter Indemnitees against any
losses, claims, damages or liabilities, joint or several, to which such Underwriter may become
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subject, under the Act or otherwise, insofar as such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) arise out of or are
based upon any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of any material fact contained in any Registration Statement, the Prospectus,
or any amendment or supplement thereto, or any related preliminary prospectus, or arise out of or are based upon the omission or alleged
omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and will
reimburse each Underwriter for any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such Underwriter in connection with investigating or
defending any such loss, claim, damage, liability or action as such expenses are incurred; provided, however, that the Selling Shareholders
will not be liable in any such case to the extent that any such loss, claim, damage or liability arises out of or is based upon an untrue
statement or alleged untrue statement in or omission or alleged omission from any of such documents in reliance upon and in conformity
with written information furnished to the Company by an Underwriter through the Representatives specifically for use therein, it being
understood and agreed that the only such information furnished by any Underwriter consists of the information described as such in
subsection (c) below; and provided, further, that with respect to any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement in or omission or alleged
omission from any preliminary prospectus, the indemnity agreement contained in this subsection (b) shall not inure to the benefit of any
Underwriter from whom the person asserting any such losses, claims, damages or liabilities purchased the Offered Securities concerned, to
the extent that a prospectus relating to such Offered Securities was required to be delivered by such Underwriter under the Act in
connection with such purchase and any such loss, claim, damage or liability of such Underwriter results from the fact that there was not
sent or given to such person, at or prior to the written confirmation of the sale of such Offered Securities to such person, a copy of the
Prospectus (exclusive of material incorporated by reference therein) if the Company had previously furnished copies thereof to such
Underwriter. In no event, however, shall the aggregate liability of a Selling Shareholder under this Section 7(b) and for breaches of its
representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained herein or otherwise exceed the amount of the net proceeds received by such
Selling Shareholder from the sale of Securities hereunder.

(c) Each Underwriter will severally and not jointly indemnify and hold harmless the Company, its directors and officers and each
person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the Act, and each Selling Shareholder against any losses,
claims, damages or liabilities to which they or any of them may become subject, under the Act or otherwise, insofar as such losses, claims,
damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) arise out of or are based upon any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of any
material fact contained in any Registration Statement, the Prospectus, or any amendment or supplement thereto, or any related preliminary
prospectus, or arise out of or are based upon the omission or the alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein
or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, in each case to the extent, but only to the extent, that such untrue statement or
alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission was made in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished
to the Company by such Underwriter through the Representatives specifically for use therein, and will reimburse any legal or other
expenses reasonably incurred by the Company and each Selling Shareholder in connection with investigating or defending any such loss,
claim, damage, liability or action as such expenses are incurred, it being understood and agreed that the only such information furnished by
any Underwriter consists of the following information in the Prospectus furnished on behalf of each Underwriter: (A) the concession and
reallowance figures appearing in the fourth paragraph under the caption “Underwriting”; and (B) the information related to stabilizing
transactions appearing in the tenth paragraph (solely with respect to the representations of the Underwriters) under the caption
“Underwriting.”

(d) Promptly after receipt by an indemnified party under this Section of notice of the commencement of any action, such indemnified
party will, if a claim in respect thereof is to be made against an indemnifying party under subsection (a), (b) or (c) above, notify the
indemnifying party of the commencement thereof; but the failure to notify the indemnifying party shall not relieve it from any liability that
it may have under subsection (a), (b) or (c) above except to the extent that it has been materially prejudiced (through the forfeiture of
substantive rights or defenses) by such failure; and provided further that the failure to notify the indemnifying party shall not relieve it from
any liability that it may have to an indemnified party otherwise than under subsection (a), (b) or (c) above. In case any such action is
brought against any indemnified party and it notifies an indemnifying party of the commencement thereof, the indemnifying party will be
entitled to participate therein and, jointly with any other indemnifying party similarly notified, to assume the defense thereof, with counsel
satisfactory to such indemnified party (who shall not, except with the consent of the indemnified party, be counsel to the indemnifying
party), and after notice from the indemnifying party to such indemnified party of its election so to assume the defense thereof, the
indemnifying party will not be liable to such indemnified party under this Section for any legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by
such indemnified party in
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connection with the defense thereof other than reasonable costs of investigation so long as the indemnifying party continues to diligently
defend such action with counsel satisfactory to the indemnified party. No indemnifying party shall, without the prior written consent of the
indemnified party, effect any settlement of any pending or threatened action in respect of which any indemnified party is or could have
been a party and indemnity could have been sought hereunder by such indemnified party unless such (i) settlement includes an
unconditional release of such indemnified party from all liability on any claims that are the subject matter of such action and (ii) does not
include a statement as to, or an admission of, fault, culpability or a failure to act by or on behalf of an indemnified party.

(e) If the indemnification provided for in this Section is unavailable or insufficient to hold harmless an indemnified party under
subsection (a), (b) or (c) above, then each indemnifying party shall contribute to the amount paid or payable by such indemnified party as a
result of the losses, claims, damages or liabilities referred to in subsection (a), (b) or (c) above (i) in such proportion as is appropriate to
reflect the relative benefits received by the Company and the Selling Shareholders on the one hand and the Underwriters on the other from
the offering of the Securities or (ii) if the allocation provided by clause (i) above is not permitted by applicable law, in such proportion as is
appropriate to reflect not only the relative benefits referred to in clause (i) above but also the relative fault of the Company and the Selling
Shareholders on the one hand and the Underwriters on the other in connection with the statements or omissions which resulted in such
losses, claims, damages or liabilities as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative benefits received by the Company
and the Selling Shareholders on the one hand and the Underwriters on the other shall be deemed to be in the same proportion as the total
net proceeds from the offering (before deducting expenses) received by the Company and the Selling Shareholders bear to the total
underwriting discounts and commissions received by the Underwriters. As between the Company and the Selling Shareholders only,
however, the relative benefits shall be deemed to be in the same proportion as the total net proceeds from the offering (before deducting
expenses) received by the Company and each Selling Shareholder, respectively. The relative fault shall be determined by reference to,
among other things, whether the untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the omission or alleged omission to state a material
fact relates to information supplied by the Company, the Selling Shareholders or the Underwriters and the parties’ relative intent,
knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such untrue statement or omission. The amount paid by an
indemnified party as a result of the losses, claims, damages or liabilities referred to in the first sentence of this subsection (e) shall be
deemed to include any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in connection with investigating or defending
any action or claim which is the subject of this subsection (e). The Company, the Selling Shareholders and the Underwriters agree that it
would not be just and equitable if contributions pursuant to this subsection (e¢) were determined by pro rata allocation (even if the
Underwriters were treated as one entity for such purpose) or by any other method of allocation which does not take account of the equitable
considerations referred to above in this subsection (e). Notwithstanding the provisions of this subsection (e), no Underwriter shall be
required to contribute any amount in excess of the amount by which the total price at which the Securities underwritten by it and distributed
to the public were offered to the public exceeds the amount of any damages which such Underwriter has otherwise been required to pay by
reason of such untrue or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission, and no Selling Shareholder shall be required to
contribute more than the net proceeds received by such Selling Shareholder from the sale of Securities hereunder. No person guilty of
fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any person who was not
guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation. The Underwriters’ obligations in this subsection (e) to contribute are several in proportion to
their respective underwriting obligations and not joint.

(f) The obligations of the Company and the Selling Shareholders under this Section shall be in addition to any liability which the
Company and the Selling Shareholders may otherwise have and shall extend, upon the same terms and conditions, to each person, if any,
who controls any Underwriter within the meaning of the Act; and the obligations of the Underwriters under this Section shall be in addition
to any liability which the respective Underwriters may otherwise have and shall extend, upon the same terms and conditions, to each
director of the Company, to each officer of the Company who has signed a Registration Statement and to each person, if any, who controls
the Company within the meaning of the Act.

8. Default of Underwriters. If any Underwriter or Underwriters default in their obligations to purchase Offered Securities hereunder
on either the First or any Optional Closing Date and the aggregate number of shares of Offered Securities that such defaulting Underwriter
or Underwriters agreed but failed to purchase does not exceed 10% of the total number of shares of Offered Securities that the Underwriters
are obligated to purchase on such Closing Date, Legg Mason may make arrangements satisfactory to the Company and the Selling
Shareholders for the purchase of such
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Offered Securities by other persons, including any of the Underwriters, but if no such arrangements are made by such Closing Date, the
non-defaulting Underwriters shall be obligated severally, in proportion to their respective commitments hereunder, to purchase the Offered
Securities that such defaulting Underwriters agreed but failed to purchase on such Closing Date. If any Underwriter or Underwriters so
default and the aggregate number of shares of Offered Securities with respect to which such default or defaults occur exceeds 10% of the
total number of shares of Offered Securities that the Underwriters are obligated to purchase on such Closing Date and arrangements
satisfactory to Legg Mason, the Company and the Selling Shareholders for the purchase of such Offered Securities by other persons are not
made within 36 hours after such default, this Agreement will terminate without liability on the part of any non-defaulting Underwriter, the
Company or the Selling Shareholders, except as provided in Section 9 (provided that if such default occurs with respect to Optional
Securities after the First Closing Date, this Agreement will not terminate as to the Firm Securities or any Optional Securities purchased
prior to such termination). As used in this Agreement, the term “Underwriter” includes any person substituted for an Underwriter under
this Section. Nothing herein will relieve a defaulting Underwriter from liability for its default.

9. Survival of Certain Representations and Obligations. The respective indemnities, agreements, representations, warranties and other
statements of the Selling Shareholders, of the Company or its officers and of the several Underwriters set forth in or made pursuant to this
Agreement will remain in full force and effect, regardless of any investigation, or statement as to the results thereof, made by or on behalf
of any Underwriter, any Selling Shareholder, the Company or any of their respective representatives, officers or directors or any controlling
person, and will survive delivery of and payment for the Offered Securities. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 8 or if for
any reason the purchase of the Offered Securities by the Underwriters is not consummated, the Company shall remain responsible for the
expenses to be paid or reimbursed by it pursuant to Section 5 and the respective obligations of the Company, the Selling Shareholders, and
the Underwriters pursuant to Section 7 shall remain in effect, and if any Offered Securities have been purchased hereunder the
representations and warranties in Section 2 and all obligations under Section 5 shall also remain in effect. If the purchase of the Offered
Securities by the Underwriters is not consummated for any reason other than solely because of the termination of this Agreement pursuant
to Section 8 or the occurrence of any event specified in clause (iii), (iv), (v), (vi) or (vii) of Section 6(c), the Company will reimburse the
Underwriters for all out-of-pocket expenses (including fees and disbursements of counsel) reasonably incurred by them in connection with
the offering of the Offered Securities.

10. Notices. All communications hereunder will be in writing and, if sent to the Underwriters, will be mailed, delivered or telegraphed
and confirmed to the Representatives, c/o Legg Mason Wood Walker Incorporated, 100 Light Street, Baltimore, Maryland 21202,
Attention: Alexsander Stewart, with a copy, which shall not constitute notice, to Scudder Law Firm, P.C., L.L.O., 411 S. 13™ Street, Suite
200, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508, Attention: Heidi Hornung-Scherr, or, if sent to the Company or the Selling Shareholders or any of them,
will be mailed, delivered or telegraphed and confirmed to 500 Old Dominion Way, Thomasville, North Carolina 27360, Attention: J. Wes
Frye and Joel B. McCarty, Jr., with a copy, which shall not constitute notice, to Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, PLLC, One Wachovia
Center, Suite 3500, 301 South College Street, Charlotte, North Carolina 28202 Attention: Garza Baldwin, III; provided, however, that any
notice to an Underwriter pursuant to Section 7 will be mailed, delivered or telegraphed and confirmed to such Underwriter.

11. Successors. This Agreement will inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective personal
representatives and successors and the officers and directors and controlling persons referred to in Section 7, and no other person will have
any right or obligation hereunder.

12. Representation. The Representatives will act for the several Underwriters in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, and any action under this Agreement taken by the Representatives jointly or by Legg Mason will be binding upon all the
Underwriters.

13. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original,
but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same Agreement.

14. Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York,
without regard to principles of conflicts of laws.
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The Company hereby submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the Federal and state courts in the State of New York in any suit or
proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby.

If the foregoing is in accordance with the Representatives’ understanding of our agreement, kindly sign and return to the Company
one of the counterparts hereof, whereupon it will become a binding agreement among the Selling Shareholders, the Company and the
several Underwriters in accordance with its terms.

Very truly yours,

OLD DOMINION FREIGHT LINE, INC

By:  /s/Earl E. Congdon

Name: Earl E. Congdon
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

20



THE DAVID S. CONGDON REVOCABLE TRUST, DATED 12/3/91

By /s/ David S. Congdon, Trustee

David S. Congdon, as Trustee

THE EARL E. CONGDON INTANGIBLES TRUST

By /s/ David S. Congdon, Trustee

David S. Congdon, as Trustee

THE JOHN R. CONGDON REVOCABLE TRUST

By /s/John R. Congdon, Trustee

John R. Congdon, as Trustee

THE JOHN R. CONGDON, JR. REVOCABLE TRUST

By /s/John R. Congdon Jr., Trustee

John R. Congdon, Jr., as Trustee

THE AUDREY L. CONGDON REVOCABLE TRUST

By /s/ Audrey L. Congdon, Trustee

Audrey L. Congdon, as Trustee

THE JEFFREY W. CONGDON REVOCABLE TRUST

By /s/ Jeffrey W. Congdon, Trustee

Jeftrey W. Congdon, as Trustee

THE KAREN CONGDON PIGMAN REVOCABLE TRUST

By /s/ Karen Congdon Pigman, Trustee

Karen Congdon Pigman, as Trustee

THE SUSAN C. TERRY REVOCABLE TRUST

By /s/ Susan C. Terry, Trustee

Susan C. Terry, as Trustee



The foregoing Underwriting Agreement is hereby confirmed and
accepted as of the date first above written.

LEGG MASON WOOD WALKER, INCORPORATED

BB&T CAPITAL MARKETS, A DIVISION OF SCOTT &
STRINGFELLOW, INC.

STEPHENS INC.

Acting on behalf of themselves and as the
Representatives of the several Underwriters.

BY LEGG MASON WOOD WALKER, INCORPORATED

By /s/ E. Bradley, Jr.

Authorized Representative
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SCHEDULE A

Number of
Firm Securities

to be Sold
Selling Shareholder _—
The David S. Congdon Revocable Trust, dated 12/3/91 185,000
The Earl E. Congdon Intangibles Trust 480,000
The John R. Congdon Revocable Trust 480,000
The John R. Congdon, Jr. Revocable Trust 185,000
The Audrey L. Congdon Revocable Trust 185,000
The Jeffrey W. Congdon Revocable Trust 185,000
The Karen Congdon Pigman Revocable Trust 185,000
The Susan C. Terry Revocable Trust 185,000
Total 2,070,000



SCHEDULE B

Underwriter
Legg Mason Wood Walker Incorporated

BB&T Capital Markets, a division of Scott & Stringfellow, Inc.
Stephens Inc.

Total

Number of
Firm Securities
to be Purchased

976,000
732,000
732,000

2,440,000



EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Earl E. Congdon, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 5, 2004

/s/ Earl E. Congdon

Chairman & Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, J. Wes Frye, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 5, 2004
/s/ J. Wes Frye

Senior Vice President — Finance and Chief
Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Earl E. Congdon, state and attest that:
(1) Iam the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc.

(2) Accompanying this certification is the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc., for the quarter ended June
30, 2004, a periodic report filed by the issuer with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), which contains financial statements.

(3) I hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

*  The periodic report containing the financial statements fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act, and

*  The information contained in the periodic report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the issuer for the periods presented.

/s/ Earl E. Congdon

Name: Earl E. Congdon
Date: August 5, 2004

A signed copy of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc. and will be retained
by Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, J. Wes Frye, state and attest that:
(1) TIam the Senior Vice President — Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc.

(2) Accompanying this certification is the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc., for the quarter ended June
30, 2004, a periodic report filed by the issuer with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), which contains financial statements.

(3) I hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

*  The periodic report containing the financial statements fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act, and

*  The information contained in the periodic report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the issuer for the periods presented.

/s/ J. Wes Frye

Name: J. Wes Frye
Date: August 5, 2004

A signed copy of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc. and will be retained
by Old Dominion Freight Line, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



